PERCEPTIONS OF PUPILS, TEACHERS AND SCHOOL ADMINISTRATORS ABOUT MENTAL HEALTH NEEDS IN PRIMARY SCHOOLS IN IBADAN, NIGERIA

TAIWO FEYISARA OLADUNNI

(B.ed. Special Education)

University of Ibadan

MATRIC NUMBER: 129032

A RESEARCH PROJECT SUBMITTED TO THE CENTRE FOR CHILD AND ADOLESCENT MENTAL HEALTH, IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE IN CHILD AND ADOLESCENT MENTAL HEALTH (M.Sc. CAMH) OF THE UNIVERSITY OF IBADAN

NOVEMBER, 2020

DECLARATION

I hereby declare that this research project was carried out by me and	submitted to the Centre for
Child and Adolescent Mental Health of the University of Ibadan. No	part of this work has been
previously submitted in part or whole to any other institution or publ	ished anywhere else.
Where other sources of information have been used, the authors are of	duly acknowledged and
listed in the references.	B
	2
Taiwo Feyisara Oladunni	
Signature	Date
6	

CERTIFICATION

College of Medicine

University of Ibadan, Nigeria.

I hereby certify that this research was written by Taiwo, Feyisara Oladunni student of the Centre for Child and Adolescent Mental Health, University College Hospital, University of Ibadan.

Supervisor
Professor Olayinka Omigbodun

MBBS (Ibadan), MPH (Leeds), FMCPsych, FWACP
Provost, College of Medicine
University of Ibadan, Nigeria.

Supervisor
Dr.Tolulope Bella-Awusah

MBBS (Ibadan), FWACP, MSc. CAMH (Ibadan).

Director, Centre for Child and Adolescent Mental Health

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

My deepest gratitude goes to Almighty God who saw me through this program. I thank the provost, College of Medicine, University of Ibadan, Professor Olayinka Omigbodun specially for supervising my work despite her busy schedule. She has shown exemplary act of a leader and mother.

Sincere gratitude to Dr. Tolulope Bella-Awusah, Director, Center for Child and Adolescent Mental Health who took out time to supervised my work despite her busy schedule. She read and corrected my work page by page. Their sage advice, insightful criticism and patient encouragement were very crucial in the realization of this thesis.

Special appreciation to the Center of Child and Adolescent Mental Health and staff for playing their roles in ensuring that the vision speaks in my life. I thank to Mr Segun Ogunmola who voluntarily read my work and made pertinent corrections.

I thank my colleagues for lending a helping hand throughout this program am very grateful.

Finally, I thank my sisters and brothers who have been of tremendous help. Their support through prayers and words of motivation cannot be over emphasized. I will always remain grateful to them.

DEDICATION

This work is dedicated to the Almighty God the source of my strength throughout this program and on His wings only have I soared. I also dedicate this work to my lovely parents Pastor Mike Olayera and Mrs Lamide Larinde Taiwo whose love and support has inspired me to go for the peak in my quest for knowledge.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Contents	pages
DECLARATION	ii
CERTIFICATION	iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	iv
DEDICATION	v
List of Tables	
Key of Abbreviations	
ABSTRACT	xii
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Background	1
1.2 Statement of the problem	3
1.3 Justification and relevance of the study	4
1.4 Research questions.	
1.5 Aim	6
1.6 Specific objectives	6
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	7
2.1 Mental health problems in school children	
2.1.2 Common mental health issues among primary school children	8
2.2 School mental health services	9
2.2.1 Components of school mental health programmes	10
2.2.2 Models of existing school based mental health programmes	11
2.2.2.1 School supported mental health model	12
2.2.2.2 Community connection model	12
2.2.2.3 Comprehensive integrated model	12

2.3 Perceptions about the need for mental health programmes in schools	12
2.3.1 Teachers' perceptions about school mental health programmes	13
2.3.2 Pupils' perceptions about school mental health programmes	16
2.4 Perceptions of teachers and school administrators about the resources for mental health programmes	
2.5 Perceptions of barriers to mental health care delivery in schools	18
2.5.1 Financial barriers.	
2.5.2 Human resource barriers.	19
2.6 Interpretative phenomenological analysis	20
CHAPTHER 3: METHODOLOGY	22
3.1 Study Area	22
3.2 Study Design	
3.3 Study Population	
3.3.1 Inclusion criteria	. 24
3.3.2 Exclusion criteria	24
3.4 Sampling techniques	24
3.5 Study procedure	25
3.5.1 Data collection	26
3.5.2 Study Instruments	26
3.5.2.1 Socio-demographic questionnaire	26
3.5.2.2 Teachers' focus group discussion guide	27
3.5.2.3 Pupils' focus group discussion guide	.27
3.5.3 Validity of the study instruments	27
3.5.3.1 Translation of the study instruments	27
3.5.4 Administration of the study instruments	28

3.6 Data Analysis	28
3.7 Ethical Considerations	28
3.7.1 Informed consent	29
3.7.2 Confidentiality	29
3.7.3 Beneficence	29
3.7.4 Non-maleficence	29
3.7.5 Voluntary participation	30
3.7.6 Conflicts of interest	30
CHAPTER 4: RESULTS	31
4.1 Socio-demographic characteristics of the respondents	31
4.1.1 Socio-demographic characteristic of the key informants	31
4.1.2 Socio-demographic characteristics of the pupils' focus group respondents	31
4.1.3 Socio-demographic characteristics of the teachers' focus group respondents	31
4.2 Key informant's and teachers perceptions	35
4.3 Pupils' focus group participants' perceptions	66
CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION, RECOMMENDATIONS AND CONCLUSION	77
5.1 Discussion	77
5.1.1 Socio-demographic characteristics of the respondents	77
5.1.2 Perceptions of mental health problems in children	78
5.1.3 Current approaches and resources available to tackle mental health problems among primary school children	81
5.1.4 Barriers to delivery of mental health services in schools	84
5.1.5 Proposed solutions	85
5.1.6 Study limitations	87
5.2 Conclusion	87

5.5.1 recommendations for pupils	
5.3.2 Recommendations for school teachers and school adminis	trators
5.3.3 Recommendations to government official	
APPENDICES	
Appendix 1: Informed Consent	
APPENDIX 2A: Socio-demographic questionnaire	
APPENDIX 2B: Teachers' focus group discussion guide	
APPENDIX 2C: Pupils' focus group discussion guide	
4	

List of tables

Tables	Titles	pages
Table 4.1.0:	Socio-demographics characteristic of key informants	32
Table 4.1.1:	Socio-demographic characteristics of pupils' focus group	participants33
Table 4.1.2:	Socio-demographic characteristics of teachers' focus grou	ip participants34
	E BADIA.	
	Kr. S.	
JAII		
	X	

Key to Abbreviations

ADHD - Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder

CAMH - Child and Adolescent Mental Health

CD - Conduct Disorder

CDC - Centers for Disease Control and prevention

EBP - Emotional and Behavioural Problems

HICs - High Income Countries

KIs - Key Informants

LMIC - Low and Middle Income Countries

NASP - National Association of School Psychologists

ODD - Oppositional Defiant Disorder

PFGD - Pupils Focus Group Discussion

SSA Sub Saharan Africa

TFGD - Teachers Focus Group Discussion

WHO - World Health Organization

ABSTRACT

Background:

Schools have long been considered as an ideal environment were mental health services could be provided in order to fill the mental health service delivery gap. School based mental health services have been identified to have the likelihood of reaching children in dire need of mental health services. The perspectives of school administrators, pupils and teachers, who are prominent stakeholders in education, on the need for child mental health programmes is paramount in implementing school based mental health programmes. This study explores the perceptions of pupils, teachers and school administrators on the need for mental health programmes in primary schools.

Methods:

This study was a cross-sectional qualitative study consisting of both key informant interviews and focus group discussions (FGDs). Six primary schools (4 public and 2 private) were randomly selected for the purpose of this study. A total of 8 in-depth interviews and 6 FGDs were conducted with school administrators, pupils and classroom teachers. Convenience sampling technique was used to select pupils, teachers and key informants who participated in this study. All interviews and focus group discussions were audio taped, transcribed and analysed for identification of emerging themes using interpretative phenomenological analysis.

Results:

A total of 29 pupils, 24 teachers and 8 school administrators were recruited into this study. The mean age of pupils was 10.8years (S.D: 2.7), teachers was 37.8years (S.D: 7.5) and school administrators was 39.6years (S.D: 9.5). Key informants and focus group participants had similar perceptions of mental health problems in children. Stigmatizing words such as 'insanity' and 'mentally retarded' were used by most of the participants to express their perceptions of mental health problems among school children. There was a lack of formal mental health interventions within schools but various informal methods/approaches of managing children with mental health problems such as individual counseling for the child and parental counseling were mentioned. Most of the participants' perceived presence of mental health experts in schools, use of mental health promotion strategies and implementation of school based mental health programmes as resources necessary to tackle mental health problems in schools. Stigma, shame, inadequate mental health orientations and trainings as well as exclusions of mental health concepts in school curriculum were identified as barriers to implementation of school based mental health services.

Conclusion:

This study contributes to filling the knowledge gap in understanding the current state of using schools as a way of approaching child mental health problems. Current perceptions of stakeholders on the need for school based mental health programmes could be an indicator of increased mental health awareness in schools. This study also identified the need for more formal training to all stakeholders on child mental health problems by CAMH professionals in all

primary schools. There is a need to include mental health in primary school curricula and teachers' education curricula as well as to include school administrators in the planning and implementation of school based mental health programmes.

Keywords: School Mental Health Programmes, Mental Health, School Administrator, Primary School Teacher, Primary School Pupils.

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

Mental health, defined by World Health Organization (WHO) is a state of well being in which the individual realizes his or her own abilities, can cope with the normal stresses of life, can work productively and fruitfully, and is able to make contribution to his or her community (WHO, 2018). Mental health is not just the absence of mental illness but also includes a person's ability to enjoy life, attain a balance between life activities, achieve psychological resilience, and cope with life's challenges (National Association of School Psychologists NASP, 2016; Legg 2017). Child and adolescent mental health disorders account for 15% of the global burden of diseases (World Health Organisation, 2004). Half of all mental health disorders begin by the age of 14 years and 75% by the age of 24 years (Forness et al., 2012; Polanczk et al., 2015), with neuropsychiatric conditions being the leading cause of disability in young people in all regions of the world (Bloem et al., 2011; World Health Organization, 2004). In Sub-Sahara Africa, One in 7 children and adolescents have significant difficulties with 9.5% having specific psychiatric disorders. (Cortina et al., 2012; Belfer, 2008). A study carried out among 200 public primary school pupils in Zaria, Northwest, Nigeria found a 37% prevalence rate of psychiatric disorders (Abubakar et al., 2017).

In many regions of the world, school is one of the strongest social institutions in a child's life as children spend a higher number of hours in school and this afford schools to have a significant impact on the lives of young people (World Health Organization, 2006; Bella *et al.*, 2011). Schools could serve as an ideal environment that can provide comprehensive mental health services that can be integrated in a cost-effective, culturally acceptable, accommodating and non-

stigmatizing manner to benefit children and adolescents (Ibeziako *et al.*, 2008; Bella *et al.*, 2011; Langer *et al.*, 2015). The school environment can help to facilitate early identification, prevention as well as timely interventions to arrest escalation of mental health issues among inschool children (Durlak *et al.*, 2011).

Evidences suggest that school mental health services are an effective means of addressing the mental health needs of children as well as improving the learning environments, which results in improved academic outcomes (The Wisconsin School Mental Health Framework, 2015). Increased access to mental health services and supports in schools is vital to improving the physical and psychological safety of in-school children, as well as their academic performance and problem-solving skills (NASP, 2016). Most school mental health programmes when effectively implemented, have the potential to enhance pupils' social competencies including assertiveness, communication, self-confidence and to also boost their academic achievements (Greenberg *et al.*, 2003).

Appropriate training of classroom teachers and school administrators—a way of achieving task shifting— can be an effective means to tackle mental health problems in children. These stakeholders are well positioned to detect mental health issues among in-school children early enough, manage children with behavioural and psychological problems, and also make appropriate referrals of children with mental health issues (Tamsin *et al.*, 2000) as cited by (Oshodi *et al.*, 2013). Teachers' prior knowledge of mental health problems among school children and their right disposition to mental health services can be a measure for a successful school mental health programme. Studies carried out in Ethiopia and Nigeria revealed that most school's personnel lack the right perception of mental illness or mental health problems (Ibeziako *et al.*, 2008; Oshodi *et al.*, 2013; Habtamu *et al.*, 2016). This was in line with another

study in Brazil where teachers revealed that lack of information on mental health creates insecurity and mismanagement of everyday situations involving mental health disorders (Goncalves et al., 2014). Understanding the perceptions of pupils, teachers and school administrators on mental health related issues can be useful in advocating for implementation of evidence based school mental health programmes.

1.2 Statement of the problem

Children and adolescents are at increased risk for mental health problems with an estimated prevalence of 10-20% psychiatric illness in childhood (Habtamu *et al.*, 2016; WHO, 2019). About 50% of mental health problems have been found to begin before the age of 14, and children with such conditions tend to suffer for a long period of time (WHO, 2019). Mental health conditions can affect functioning in every aspect of life, and when left untreated, may significantly limit an individual's opportunities across the lifespan (WHO, 2004). Mental health is more than the absence of mental illness but includes all aspects of health—there is no health without mental health (WHO, 2018). Evidence shows that there is a shortage of child and adolescent mental health (CAMH) professionals all over the world, with resource-poor countries being the most affected (Dogra and Omigbodun., 2004) as cited by (Ibeziako *et al.*, 2008; Bella *et al.*, 2011). School mental health programmes have, therefore evolved as a strategy to meet up with the demands for child and adolescent mental health services.

In spite of the established importance of school mental health services, such services are unfortunately almost non-existent in the Nigerian context (Ibeziako *et al.*, 2008; Bella *et al.*, 2011). If school mental health programmes are to be successfully implemented in our context,

teachers and school administrators undoubtedly have to be positively disposed to it. It has been shown in Ethiopia, for example, that teacher' perceptions of child mental health problems and their perceptions of school mental health services can help in designing early intervention strategies aim at promoting mental health (Habtamu *et al.*, 2016). Teachers and school administrators who are expected to be drivers of this initiative have, however, been often found in the local context to exhibit rather negative perceptions about the subject of mental health. A study by Ibeziako *et al.*, (2008), showed that teachers expressed significant difficulty in identifying children with mental health problems and expressed their incapability to address mental health issues (Ibeziako *et al.*, 2008).

1.3 Justification

Despite the increasing evidence that school mental health services have the highest likelihood of reaching children in need of mental health services in resource poor countries (Ibeziako *et al.*, 2008; Lee, 2017; Bella-Awusah *et al.*, 2014), these services are rarely available and little is known on the current perceptions of education stakeholders (teachers and school administrators) regarding school mental health services in low and middle income countries. It's therefore important to explore the current perceptions of these stakeholders regarding school mental health programmes. Ibeziako *et al.*, (2008) study showed that classroom teachers and school administrators' disposition to school mental health services in primary schools is quite not encouraging and the study did not sought the perceptions of primary school pupils who are the ultimate target of the school mental health programmes.

This study was, therefore, deemed relevant as it seeks to explore the changes that may have occurred in the perceptions of teachers, who are the primary stakeholders in implementing school mental health programmes, and school administrators, who possess appreciable influence on the development of policies to promote mental health in schools. This study also has a wider scope as it seeks to explore pupils' perception of their own mental health needs as the end users. It is hoped that this study would give insight into the current state of need for mental health in primary schools and subsequently inform the needed interventions.

1.4 Research questions

This study was conducted to answer to the following research questions:

- 1. What are the perceptions of pupils, teachers and school administrators about the common mental health problems in primary school children in Ibadan, Nigeria?
- 2. What are the perceptions of pupils, teachers and school administrators about the resources currently available to tackle mental health problems in primary schools?
- 3. What are the resources needed to address mental health problems in primary school children as perceived by pupils, teachers and school administrators?
- 4. What are the barriers to children receiving mental health care as perceived by pupils, teachers and school administrators?
- 5. What are the changes in the perceptions of mental health needs of primary school children by teachers and school administrators since the previous study by Ibeziako *et al.*, (2008).

1.5 Aim

This study aims at exploring the perceptions of pupils, teachers and school administrators on the need for mental health programmes in primary schools.

1.6 Specific objectives

The specific objectives of this study were to explore the perceptions of pupils, teachers and school administrators about:

- a. Common mental health problems in primary school children in Ibadan, Nigeria
- b. Resources available to tackle child mental health problems.
- c. The resources needed to address mental health problems.
- d. The barriers to receiving mental health care.

CHAPTER TWO

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Mental health problems in school children

Mental health and emotional well-being is an important aspect of overall health necessary to have a happy and productive childhood experience (Suldo, 2010). The mental health status of children is directly related to their optimal psychological and social functioning (Cortina et al., 2012). Mental health problems during childhood is known for its severe impact on learning, social relationships and general health (Esan et al., 2012). Mental health problems in childhood are often not recognized or addressed early enough, especially in developing countries (Suldo, 2010). With reference to prevalence, evidence reveals that mental health problems among school children vary globally, depending on geographical factors (Russel et al., 2008; Eapen et al., 2003; Cortina et al., 2012) as cited by (Tunde-Ayinmode et al., 2012). Estimated at 14-20% globally, the prevalence of child psychiatric disorders is of growing concern (Kato et al., 2015; Habtamu et al., 2016; Tunde-Ayinmode et al., 2012). A meta-analysis, for example, found a worldwide prevalence of mental health problems among in-school children to be 13.4% with the prevalence of anxiety disorder being 6.5%, depressive disorder 2.6%, attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder 3.4% and disruptive disorder 5.7% (Polanczyk et al., 2015). In the United States (U.S.), prevalence rates of 9.4%, 7.1%, 3.2%, and 7.4% were obtained for attention deficit hyperactivity disorders (ADHD), anxiety disorders, depressive disorders and behavioural disorders respectively among children aged 3-17 years (Center for Diseases Control CDC, 2019). Meta-analysis of surveys conducted in Sub Sahara Africa (SSA) yielded a prevalence rate of 13-20% of childhood mental health problems. One in 7 children in Sub Sahara Africa have significant difficulty, with 1 in 10 (9.5%) having a specific psychiatric difficulty. The prevalence rate of mental health problems among in-school children in low resources countries is estimated at 14.3% with anxiety disorders, depressive disorders, conduct disorders and delinquency, mental retardation and learning disabilities being more commonly reported than autism spectrum disorder (ASD) and ADHD (Cortina *et al.*, 2012; Omigbodun OO, 2004) as cited by (Tunde-Ayinmode *et al.*, 2012). In Ethiopia, for example, a significant number of children (17%–20%) suffer from childhood behavioural and emotional disorders (Habtamu *et al.*, 2016). Epidemiological surveys in Nigeria revealed that childhood mental health problems are common with a prevalence rate of 11.4% of psychiatric disorders (Atilola *et al.*, 2014; Tunde-Ayinmode *et al.*, 2012). There is, however, a dearth of data in low-resource countries where the adversity is apparently more prominent and its impact to the society is much more detrimental (Cortina *et al.*, 2012; Scott, 2016; Esan *et al.*, 2016).

2.1.2 Common Mental Health Issues among Primary School Children

Global Burden of Diseases reveals that childhood mental health problems are relatively consistent across the 21 world regions and the burden of diseases attributable to mental disorders in children is likely to increase as the population of children increases globally (Scott *et al.*, 2016; Baranne *et al.*, 2018; WHO, 2019). Mental health disorders are common problems in childhood with 1 in 5 children experiencing some kind of emotional or behavioural disorder with a long lasting effect that is serious enough to impair the child's functioning at home or in school and also affect those around the child (Scott *et al.*, 2016; Association for Children Mental Health, 2019). Mental health problems among primary school children are more likely to be in the form of behavioural issues as children are more likely to display behavioural changes as manifestation

of mental health problems such as obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD), oppositional defiant disorder or conduct disorder (NASP, 2016; Ogundele, 2017; Barrington, 2019).

Common mental health problems affecting school children include: anxiety disorder (social phobia, traumatic stress disorder and generalized anxiety disorder), attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, autism spectrum disorder, mood disorders and eating disorders (Barrington, 2019). Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, conduct disorder and autism spectrum disorder are more common in males while young females are more likely to suffer from anxiety disorders (GBD, 2010). The consequences of mental health disorders among in-school children include the adverse impact during childhood and the persistence of mental ill health unto adult life. Impact of childhood mental disorders extend beyond the personal suffering of the child but have a negative impact on their families, peers and the society (Scott *et al.*, 2016).

2.2 School mental health services

School mental health services refer to a continuum of support integrated throughout the school community for in-school children through the use of universal, selective and indicated strategies. Universal strategies promote the social and emotional well-being of students; selected strategies are directed towards pupils who are at risk, or those with mild mental health challenges; and indicated strategies are aimed at supporting those with significant needs— with a streamlined process for referrals to community mental health providers. School mental health programmes address the socio-emotional development of in-school children such as wellness, mental illness, substance abuse, and effects of adverse childhood experiences (The Wisconsin School Mental Health Framework, 2015).

School mental health services are charged with the responsibility to make positive changes on the mental health status of in-school children through provision of social and emotional supports (Heller, 2014). Most school mental health services comprise various mental health professionals that can help in identifying mental health challenges in children through appropriate screening, assessments and follow up (The Wisconsin School Mental Health Framework, 2015).

2.2.1 Components of School Mental Health Programmes

Children's mental health is not just the prerogative of mental health experts. It is the concern of every member of the society (Education Development Center, 2011). School settings are ideal for mental health promotion, prevention and early identification (EDC, 2011; NASP, 2016; Ibeziako et al., 2008). According to the American Association of Paediatrics (AAP), one of the ways to categorize the components of a school based mental health program is to consider a 3-tier model of services and needs (AAP, 2004). The first is an array of preventive mental health programmes and services which target all pupils within the school settings. Preventive mental health programmes offer services that improve the mental health and psychological wellbeing of the whole school population and equip pupils to be resilient so as to cope with normal stress of life effectively and efficiently (EDC, 2011). Preventive programmes focus on reducing risk factors and building resilience. These also include teaching pupils about psychological wellbeing through the curriculum and reinforcing this teaching through school activities which include provision of a positive, friendly and social school environment that promote family and community support associated with healthy emotional development (AAP, 2004).

The second tier of school mental health services is designed to assist pupils with one or more identified mental health needs. This includes pupils who function well enough to participate

successfully in many social, academic, and other daily activities. The focus is to recognise emerging issues as early and accurately as possible. Services offered to pupils under this category include the provision of group or individual therapy (DEF, 2011; AAP, 2004).

The third tier of mental health programs targets the smallest population of children. This is to address the needs of children with severe mental health diagnosis and symptoms. These usually include the referral of such a child to a multidisciplinary team of professionals which may not be available within the school environment (AAP, 2004).

2.2.2 Models of Existing School Based Mental Health Programmes

Schools have a central role to play in enabling their pupils to be resilient and to support good mental health and wellbeing (DFE, 2018; AAP, 2004). School mental health services emerge as a strategy to address mental health problems among school children through prevention and intervention strategies by removing barriers to accessing mental health services and improving coordination of those services (AAP, 2004). In developed countries, schools have an existing history of involvement in mental health; many schools have developed curricula for mental health and offer a wide range of mental health services to school children (Hoagwood *et al.*, 2003). It is important that schools promote good mental wellbeing for all pupils. Education about relationships, sex and health can be an important vehicle through which schools can teach pupils about mental health and wellbeing (DFE, 2018).

The high prevalence of mental health problems during childhood coupled with the low rates of attendance at mental health services has made it necessary to develop a population-based model so as to prevent mental health problems among young people (Hoagwood *et al.*, 2003). Earlier models intervened at the level of the individual child using contemporary approaches informed

by social-ecological models (Bronfrebrenner, 1989). Furthermore, earlier models targeted key environmental influences that could hinder the child psychological wellbeing (Brian Graetz, 2008). These models include but are not limited to:

2.2.2.1 School supported mental health model

In this model, a separate mental health units exist within the school system and school nursing services is a major portal of entry for children with mental health concerns. Social workers, guidance counsellors and school psychologists are employed directly by the school system.

2.2.2.2 Community connection model

Community connection model make use of mental health agencies or individuals to deliver direct services under contract within the school either as a part-time or full time. Mental health professionals are available within a school based health centre or are invited into after-school programmes. The school has a formal linkage to an off-site mental health professional or to a managed care organization who helps through this.

2.2.2.3 Comprehensive integrated model

This model addresses prevention strategies, school environment, screening, referral, special education, family and community issues and delivers direct mental health services. School-based mental health care services provide comprehensive and integrated and mental health services within the school environment (AAP, 2004).

2.3 Perceptions about the need for mental health programmes in schools

The role of schools in the early identification of mental health problems among primary school children is highly significant, especially as mental health related service contacts occur mostly

within the school settings (Humphrey et al., 2016; Williams 2013; Delgado et al., 2016). The large number of contact hours children spend at school is significant enough to call the attention of teachers and other school personnel to changes in the child's behaviour and demeanour which may be a sign of mental health problems (Ibeziako et al., 2008; Eklund et al., 2014). Evidence reveals that half of all mental illnesses begin before the age of fourteen. That is, half of all mental illnesses begins during the elementary and high school years (anxiety and impulse control disorders each have a median age of onset of 11 years) (Kessler et al., 2005) cited in (Soneson et al., 2018). Needs assessment based on the perceptions of teachers, school administrators and other academic staff is, therefore, the first step in the development of a comprehensive school-based mental health services (Walter et al., 2006) as cited by (Ibeziako et al., 2008). This is to ensure that services are planned and evaluated based on the identified needs of the school which include evaluating their capacity to respond to the growing needs of the population. Needs assessment involves the synthesis of views about the mental health needs of children from stakeholders involved in their care (Ibeziako et al., 2008; American Institute for Research, 2017)

2.3.1 Teachers' Perceptions about School Mental Health Programmes

Globally, teachers are regarded as frontline custodians of children in schools. Teachers help to enhance child resilience in schools and teachers' attitude on the significance of mental health services in schools is of paramount importance, especially, in resource poor settings. (Al-Obaidi *et al.*, 2012). The class room teacher plays a key role in understanding specific issues relating to school mental health programmes. Teachers are often in charge of implementing school-based universal interventions, as well as in referring children in need of additional supports (Ibeziako *et*

al., 2008; Reinke et al., 2011). Teachers' perceptions of mental health problems among inschool children and their dispositions to school-based mental health services help in designing early intervention programmes which aim at promoting mental health services. Teachers, when equipped with adequate knowledge and skills, have the potential to address mental health problems among in-school children with an attempt to promote good psychological well-being (Ibeziako et al., 2008; Habtamu et al., 2016). Evidence shows that most teachers prefer referral of children with emotional or behavioural problem to other school personnel who have had mental health related training than health facilities (Oshodi, 2013).

Primary school teachers in Ethiopia, for example, viewed behavioural problems such as disruptive behaviour, defiant, aggression, conduct problem, hyperactivity and inattention, social skills deficit and depression as the top children mental health concerns in their classroom (Reinke *et al.*, 2011). They, however, rated externalizing behaviours (e.g. hyperactivity, restlessness) to be more severe than internalizing mental health problems (Habtamu *et al.*, 2016).

A study in Nigeria by Ibeziako *et al.*, revealed that primary school teacher's perception of mental health problems and school-based mental health programmes is limited. Teachers described their first thought of mental illness among children with obsolete and deprecating terms. Teachers' perceptions of the possible causes of mental health problems among in-school children includes: problems with primary support, poverty, psycho-active substance use, peri-natal problems, head trauma, medical illnesses, peer influences, sexual abuses, teachers attitude, religious practice, genetic transmission, and spiritual forces (Ibeziako *et al.*, 2008).

Teachers can play important role in screening, monitoring the child's progress as well as teaching socio-emotional lessons that can promote mental well-being of pupils in their various

classes. A sustainable way to remove barriers to integrating mental health practice is to help teachers to identify their roles in supporting children with mental health challenges (Reinke *et al.*, 2011). Evidence-based universal interventions for school-based mental health programmes require teacher's implementation. Selective or indicated interventions which often involve teacher's referral (Greenberg *et al.*, 1999) cited in (Reinke *et al.*, 2011).

Understanding the perception of teachers on school mental health programmes can help to increase implementation of evidence-based interventions within the school settings. Teachers' perceptions provide important information about contextual influence that can be leveraged to bridge the gap in school-based mental health practices. The perception of teachers in terms of educational and training requirement is necessary in order to successfully implement effective mental health practice. This is necessary to ascertain if teachers see the relevance of supporting children with mental health needs and to help schools overcome specific barriers for providing mental health services (Reinke *et al.*, 2011).

Additionally, understanding the perception of teachers is important to know, if teachers believe it is part of their roles to support the mental health needs of children in school. If yes, are they capable in terms of knowledge, skills and training necessary for providing these roles? (Reinke *et al.*, 2011). The study by Ibeziako *et al.*, (2008) revealed that teachers do not have enough knowledge, skills and resources to address mental health issues in their classroom. In the same vein, school administrators appear unaware of the presence of mental health problems in their schools (Ibeziako *et al.*, 2008). In a study carried out in Ethiopia, only 34% of teachers reported that they felt they had the skills necessary to support the needs of these children (Reinke *et al.*, 2011).

In another view, teachers perceive the roles of a school psychologist to be more expansive than their role in supporting mental health services. Teachers felt that school psychologists should play a greater role in screening, conducting assessments and teaching socio-emotional lessons in the classroom. However, teachers indicated that the role of implementing behavioural interventions in the classroom was a teacher's role (Reinke *et al.*, 2011).

2.3.2 Pupils' Perceptions about School Mental Health Programmes

Mental health disorder appears to be one of the biggest challenges facing all countries. Nigeria boasts a population of about 200 million populations with 50% children and adolescents who are considered to be especially at risk (WHO, 2014; Atilola *et al.*, 2014). The stigma associated with mental health problems can have a considerable impact on several aspects of the affected individual (Jack-ide, 2016). Educating primary school children about mental health disorders will not only increase their understanding of mental health but have a long lasting impact on their families, friends and neighbours (Naylor *et al.*, 2009) cited in (Jack-Ide, 2016). In addition, evidence shows that increasing young people's knowledge on mental health through contact and education showed positive results which reduce negative attitudes towards people with such disorders (Bella-Awusah *et al.*, 2014; Al-Naggar *et al.*, 2013). Research on young people's views on mental health disorders showed positive changes after exposure to educational programs (Jack-Ide, 2016).

A study carried out in Italy, among school children to promote mental well-being and to create awareness of mental disorders reported that in-school children showed a significant reduction of stigma after acquiring new information about such conditions (Del-Casale *et al.*, 2013). A similar study carried out in Bayelsa Nigeria, revealed that most school children acquire information on mental health through social media, colleagues, teachers and families, who most times do not

have the right perspectives about the disorders. Studies showed that adequate education and information about mental illness is likely to modify negative perceptions and attitudes among primary school children and thus, promote public mental health (Jack-Ide, 2016). Children's negative attitudes and perceptions about mental health problems are likely to change when people around these children have positive perceptions of individuals with the disorders (Corrigan *et al*, 2004) cited by (Jack-Ide 2016).

2.4 Perceptions of teachers and school administrators about the resources for mental health programmes

Schools have a huge role to play in supporting the mental health and wellbeing of their pupils through the development of approaches and implementation of strategies tailored to the particular needs of their pupils. All schools are under a statutory duty to promote the wellbeing of their pupils, by preventing physical and mental health disorders and taking actions to ensure that all children have the best outcomes (DFE, 2018). School administrators agreed that mental health is an important need that schools must address (Frabutt *et al.*, 2012). A study carried out by Ibeziako *et al.*, 2008 revealed that teachers and other school personnel have no resources to tackle mental health needs, howbeit; some focus-group-discussions identified corporal punishment as a tool to address mental illness and mental health problems in schools. However, participants from this study perceived available resources to include special schools, juvenile remand home (correctional facilities), teaching hospitals, churches and mosques. Human and material resources were perceived by school teachers and administrators as part of the resources necessary to address mental health problems among in-school children (Ibeziako *et al.*, 2008).

2.5 Perceptions of barriers to mental health care delivery in schools

There are a number of challenges to the successful implementation and maintenance of mental health practices in schools (Reinke *et al.*, 2011). It is essential to have adequate knowledge of the barriers to mental health service utilization in order to address the needs of pupils with mental disorders and plan appropriate service (Jack-Ide *et al.*, 2013). A study in Columbia revealed that teachers rated barriers to implementing school mental health programs to include inadequate mental health training for school personnel, lack of funding and absence of mental health personnel in schools (Reinke *et al.*, 2011). Pupils reported stigma as the most significant barrier to accessing school mental health services (Bowers *et al.*, 2013). Ibeziako *et al.*, (2008), revealed that access is a major barrier to mental health care delivery for children as most of these children depend on adult (parents or caregivers) for help. Lack of awareness of the available resources and lack of cultural incompatibility also contributed to these barriers (Ibeziako *et al.*, 2008).

2.5.1 Financial barrier

Finance remains a major obstacle to delivery of a comprehensive school mental health programme (Evans *et al.*, 2003). Funding is significant to the implementation of school mental health programmes. In developing countries, funding for public schools is limited and there is a sizeable cut to education funding. Many schools have little or no resources to cater to the needs of the individual child (Oliff *et al.*, 2013). A study carried out in Ohio, USA revealed that schools with school-based mental health programs receive limited federal funding. State grants, partnerships with local hospitals or public health departments and grants from non-profit organisations are the means through which many educational sectors receive help (Heller, 2014).

In addition to limited staff capacity and access to specialists, funding was identified as a key barrier to mental health services in a study carried out in ten (10) European countries (Patalay *et al.*, 2016)

Nigeria, like other countries in Sub-Sahara Africa, is experiencing neglect in mental health and consequently school mental health services. Mental health services receive a low priority in the national budget allocation with only about 1% of the health budget spent on mental health (World Mental Health Atlas, 2014). Most Sub-Sahara African countries do not have any budget whatsoever for mental health related issues at any level of government (Esan *et al.*, 2014). The Ibeziako *et al.*, (2008), found poverty (financial constraints) to be among the more common themes to emerge from the focus groups. According to the respondents, lack of finance was a major barrier to the delivery of mental health services. Financial constraints were said to be the leading cause of poor nutrition, child labour and poor quality of living. Respondents from the study argued that most problems in resource poor settings could be related to poverty (Ibeziako *et al.*, 2008).

2.5.2 Human resource barrier

Many countries are faced with the challenge of providing adequate human resources for proper delivery of mental health service. The fact that there are limited numbers of child and adolescent mental health (CAMH) professionals, particularly in low and middle income countries is well established. It is not feasible to rely on this low numbers of professionals to implement mental health services that will cater to the whole population as human resources for mental health in Sub-Sahara African is unlikely to grow unless effective steps are taken (Wittkowski *et al.*, 2014, Kakuma *et al.*, 2011, Kisia *et al.*, 2012). The World Health Organisation estimates a huge lack of

mental health professionals in low and middle income countries (WHO, 2018). In the Ibeziako et al., (2008) study, the focus group respondents described human and material resources as a major barrier to successful delivery of school mental health programme (Ibeziako et al., 2008). Evidence suggests that mental health services can be delivered effectively within the school settings through school-based mental health programme and task shifting approach (Bella et al., 2014; Ibeziako et al., 2008; Kakuma et al., 2011). Task shifting has remained the only feasible solution to overcoming this barrier of shortage in the mental health workforce (Dawson et al, 2004, WHO, 2006). Task shifting in mental health is a potentially cost-efficient strategy for achieving optimal child mental health in sub-Sahara Africa (Yen-Huang et al., 2014). This may include modifying the interventions to be delivered by teachers, and training the teachers in mental health prevention and intervention strategies. Furthermore, provision of adequate consultation and support to teachers is necessary so they can implement the intervention with fidelity. Training of teachers and availability of child mental health specialists within schools were identified as being of utmost importance (Ibeziako et al., 2008). (Wittkowski et al., 2014; Kisia *et al.*, 2012).

2.6 Interpretative phenomenological analysis (IPA)

Interpretative phenomenological analysis is a qualitative research approach that deals with how participants make sense of their lived experience or major life events (Creswell *et al.*, 2013; smith *et al* 1996; Rubin *et al.*, 2012). IPA gives insight into the participants' experiences and perspectives on the phenomenon been discussed, taking into consideration the research questions (Alase, 2017). A research carried out in Boston, USA viewed Interpretative phenomenological analysis as a qualitative approach that allows the interviewees (research participants) the opportunity to express themselves through the narration of their lived experience stories, the way

they fit without any distortion or prosecution (Alase, 2017; Creswell *et al.*, 2013). According to Alase, (2017) IPA is considered as the most participant oriented qualitative research approach due to the respect and sensitivity attributed to the lived experiences of the research participants.

Interpretative phenomenological analysis is one of the approaches that capture the experiential, qualitative, interpretative and navigating perspectives of the people (research participants) without any distortion. The strength of IPA as a qualitative research approach lies in its ability to systematically examine and interpret the lived experiences of the participants (Flick, 2010; Smith *et al.*, 2009). IPA allows for multiple individual (participants) who experience similar events to tell their stories in relation to the phenomenon been discussed

Creswell 2012, stated that interpretative phenomenological studies described the common meaning of a concept or phenomenon been discussed for several individuals with respect to their lived experiences. IPA allows each participant to express their human lived experience in their own term rather than according to a predefined category system. The aim of using an interpretative phenomenological approach in a qualitative research is to understand what the participants' experiences are and how they make sense of such experiences, while annotating closely (coding) to determine emergent themes (Smith *et al.*, 2015; Creswell 2012)

CHAPTER THREE

METHODOLOGY

3.1 Study Area

This study was conducted in randomly selected public and private primary schools in Ibadan metropolis, Oyo-state, Nigeria. Ibadan is the third most populous city in Nigeria and the country's largest city by geographical area with a population of about 6 million (World Population Review, 2018). Ibadan comprises 11 local government areas (LGAs) with 5 urban LGAs and 6 semi-urban LGAs (Sawe, 2019). The location of this study is the same as that of the study carried out by Ibeziako et al., (2008). This study was carried out in one rural and two urban local government areas (LGAs) in Ibadan metropolis. The first of the two urban LGAs; Ibadan North West Local Government covers a large area of land with a population of about 152,834 (World Population Review, 2018) It was initially divided into eleven wards, however, a new LGA has been carved out of Ibadan North West leaving it with six wards. Ibadan North is the second urban LGA where this study was carried out. The Ibadan North LGA covers a landmass of 132,500 square meters with a population density of about 347,998. Akinyele Local Government is a rural LGA and the third LGA where this research was carried out. It has a population of about 211,359 who are predominantly farmers and artisans. Significant change in terms of structures and increase in population has occurred in each of these LGAs since the previous study.

The system of education in Ibadan follows the general school system in Nigeria which took a new dimension since the introduction of the (1)-6-3-3-4 system of education: one year preprimary education, six years primary, three years junior secondary, three years senior secondary and a minimum of four years tertiary education (Ajibade, 2019). An academic year consists of 3

terms with each term having between 12 weeks of academic activities. Schools in Ibadan metropolis are open for academic activities five days a week (Monday – Friday). This study was carried out in primary schools. Children in primary schools spend between 6 - 9 hours each day in school. The age range of children in primary schools is between the ages 5- 12 years.

In the previous study by Ibeziako *et al*, 2008, six urban public, six urban private and five rural public schools were randomly selected, making a total of 17 schools from three local governments. The local governments selected for this study were the same as that of Ibeziako *et al.*, 2008 study. However, owing to limitations in resources and time, six schools consisting of two urban public, two urban private, and two rural public schools were selected.

3.2 Study Design

This study was a cross-sectional qualitative study consisting of both key informant interviews and focus group discussions.

3.3 Study Population

The population for this study were primary school pupils in basic five and six classes in the selected public and private primary schools in Ibadan metropolis. This selection was because the pupils are deemed to be developmentally mature enough to understand the simplified mental health concepts entailed in the discussion guide. This study population also included classroom teachers and school administrators (including administrators from the State Universal Basic Education Board (SUBEB) and head teachers, assistant head teachers or school proprietors). These groups of people were selected because they have direct and indirect contacts with children in school (Bella *et al.*, 2011; Ibeziako *et al.*, 2008)

3.3.1 Inclusion Criteria

Participants were included in the study if

- Basic five and six pupils who could speak and understand either Yoruba or English very well and their parent(s) gave consent for participation.
- Primary school teachers who have at least one year teaching experience.
- School administrators with more than 5 years working experience.

3.3.2 Exclusion Criteria

• Basic five and six pupils who met the inclusion criteria but are too ill to participate.

3.4 Sampling Techniques

A total of 4 public and 2 private schools were randomly selected from the list of all public and private schools in the chosen local governments. Six schools consisting of 2 urban public, 2 urban private and 2 rural public were randomly selected for teachers' and pupils' focus group discussions respectively. All the head or assistant head teachers in the 6 schools were selected for key informants' interviews including 2 administrators from the state schools board. This was to ensure adequate representation of all participants (pupils, teachers and school administrators) in the study site. Convenience sampling technique was used to recruit participants from the selected schools in the study. A total of 61 participants consisting of 29 pupils, 24 teachers and 8 key informants (2 school administrators from the State Universal Basic Education Board and 6 head or assistant head teachers) were selected. Each of the pupils FGDs had 9 participants from rural public, 10 from urban private and 10 from urban public respectively. The 3 teachers' focus group discussions had 8 teachers per focus group as well.

3.5 Study Procedure

Having obtained the requisite permission from the Ministry of Education, the head teachers from the selected schools were contacted to inform them about the nature and procedure of the research. Upon securing the approval of the schools, the pupils' focus group discussion participants were selected using convenience sampling. There were 3 pupils' FGDs and each focus group interview was carried out in an empty class with adequate chairs and tables. Each focus group discussion lasted between 40 minutes and one hour with nine to ten participants making a total of 29 participants.

Each teacher's focus group interview was carried out in an empty office/classroom and lasted between one hour and one hour thirty minutes. The 3 teachers' FGDs were conducted with 8 teachers in each focus group making a total of 24 teachers.

Key informants recruited into the research included administrators from the State Universal Basic Education Board (SUBEB), head teachers and assistant head teachers from both private and public schools using convenience sampling. Also, 7 out of the 8 interviews were carried out in the interviewees' offices and one was carried out in an empty classroom. A total of 8 in-depth interviews and 6 FGDs (including 3 teachers' focus group discussions and 3 pupils' focus group discussions) were conducted with a total of 61 participants.

The key informants' interviews and teachers' focus group discussions were carried out in English as requested by the participants. Pupils' focus group discussions were carried out in both Yoruba and English for better understanding of the respondents.

3.5.1 Data Collection

All data generated from this survey through focus group discussion and key informant interviews were recorded with battery operated digital audio recorder and then downloaded into a computer hard drive, a CD-ROM and a flash drive. All digital recordings downloaded into a computer hard-drive were transcribed verbatim. Pupils' focus group discussion conducted in English and Yoruba was translated into English accordingly by the researcher.

3.5.2 Study Instruments

Data was collected using the following instruments;

- ❖ The socio-demographic questionnaire------Appendix 2A
- ❖ The focus group discussion guide------Appendix 2B
- ❖ Pupils focus group discussion guide (adapted from teachers focus group discussion guide)------Appendix 2C

3.5.2.1 Socio-demographic Questionnaire

The socio-demographic questionnaire by Omigbodun *et al.*, (2008) was used to elicit information on age, class, gender, name of school from the pupils. A socio-demographic questionnaire adapted from the previous study by Ibeziako *et al.*, was used to elicit information from teachers and school administrators.

3.5.2.2 Teachers Focus Group Discussion Guide

A focus group discussion guide (Appendix 2B) which consists of 11 items adapted from the previous study on needs assessment for child mental health programmes in primary schools (Ibeziako *et al.*, 2008), was used for all the interviews. The question guide covers a series of

explorative statements such as "what comes to your mind when you hear about mental illness or mental health problems in children.

3.5.2.3 Pupils Focus Group Discussion Guide

A pupils' focus group discussion guide (Appendix 2C) consisting of 8 items was adapted from the teachers' focus group discussion guide.

3.5.3 Validity of the Study Instrument

The English and Yoruba versions of the socio-demographic questionnaire have been validated among primary school pupils. The question guide used for teachers' focus group discussion has been used in the previous research work carried out by Ibeziako *et al.*, (2008). Pupils' focus group discussion guide was adapted from the teachers discussion guide. A pre-test study was carried out on a small sample of participants (5 pupils) in one of the urban local governments (Ibadan Northwest) to identify any possible challenges that could rise during the study. During the pre-test study, the researcher found that some words like 'approaches and resources' were too ambiguous for the pupils, hence, substituted with 'ways and things' respectively. This was to ensure ease of understanding of the instrument by all participants.

3.5.3.1 Translation of the Instruments

The socio demographic questionnaire (Appendix 2A) had been translated into the local language (Yoruba) by previous studies. The focus group discussion guide was translated into the local language (Yoruba) using back translation method.

3.5.4 Administration of study instruments

All instruments were administered in English and the local language (Yoruba). The socio-demographic questionnaire was read aloud to the pupils in English and Yoruba. Some of the pupils were guided to tick appropriately. This is done to easy the pupils understanding of the questions in the instrument. The focus group discussions/key informant interviews took place after the socio-demographic questionnaires has been administered.

3.6. Data Analysis

Data collected through key interviews' and focus group discussions' were manually transcribed verbatim for closer study and analysis. Transcriptions involve data interpretation and data representation which are the first step in analysing data. Transcriptions were analysed by the researcher using interpretative phenomenological analysis and validated with the supervisor (See 2.6). Recurring themes from the participants' responses were identified across board. The emergent and recurrent themes were discussed and agreed upon by the researcher and supervisors.

3.7 Ethical Consideration

Ethical approval to carry out this study was obtained from Oyo State Ministry of Health Ethical Review Board and permission was obtained from the State Ministry of Education. Likewise, permission was obtained from the Zonal Inspector of Education at the Oyo-State Schools Board.

3.7.1 Informed Consent

The participants were briefed about the study. Assent was obtained from the participating pupils and the informed consent of the legal guidance of the assenting ones was subsequently sought.

Interested participants (teachers and school administrators) were provided with a detailed informed consent form. All participants were informed of their right to withdraw from the study prior to the interview.

3.7.2 Confidentiality

The information collected was used for research purpose only, and neither the name nor any identifying information of the participants will be used in any publication or presentation of the study results. All information collected for the study was kept confidential.

3.7.3 Beneficence to Participants

The interview provides pupils the avenue to express their thought on mental health and gained more insight on mental health issues. It provides teachers and school administrators the opportunity to express their difficulties in dealing with children suffering from mental health issues and possibly serve as an eye opener that will influence new policies on implementing school mental health programmes.

3.7.4 Non-maleficence

There is no known risk associated with the study and it did not involve any invasive procedures.

3.7.5 Voluntary Participation

Participation in this study was voluntary. Participants were not forced to answer any questions and they could withdraw from the study at any time with no effect or any consequences.

3.7.6 Conflicts of Interest

The study was done in the scope of partial fulfillment of requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Child and Adolescent Mental Health, University of Ibadan. There was no conflict of interest.

CHAPTER FOUR

RESULTS

4.1 Socio-demographic Characteristics of the Respondents

4.1.0 Socio- demographic Characteristics of the Key Informants.

A total of 8 key informants were interviewed. Six head or assistant head teachers and 2 senior officials from the State Universal Basic Education Board (SUBEB) participated in the KI interviews. There were 3 (37.5%) male and 5 (62.5%) female. The mean age of the respondents was 39.6years (S.D: 9.8) and 5 (62.5%) Christians and 3 (37.5%) Muslims. (Table 4.1.0).

4.1.1 Socio-demographic Characteristics of the Pupils FGD Respondents.

A total of 29 pupils participated in the FGDs. The mean age of the respondents was 10.8 years (S.D: 2.7). Majority 15 (51.7%) were 10 years or below and 14 (48.3%) were 11 years and above. There were 17 (58.6%) females and 12 (41.4%) males while 19 (65.5%) were primary six pupils and 10 (34.5%) were primary five pupils. (Table 4.1.1).

4.1.2 Socio-demographic Characteristics of the Teachers FGD Respondents.

A total of twenty-four teachers participated in the FGD. The mean age of the respondents was 37.8 years (S.D: 7.5). The oldest teacher was 48 years and the youngest 28years. The average number of years of teaching was 11.6years (S.D: 5.4years) with a range of 5 to 32years. A total number of 6 (25.0%) were males and 18 (75.0%) were females while 14 (58.3%) were Christians and 10 (41.7%) were Muslims. Majority 22 (88%) were married. (Table 4.1.2)

Table 4.1.0 Socio-demographic characteristics of key informants (school administrators, head or assistant head teachers)

Urban private Rural public Gender Male Female Religion Christian Islam Educational cadre N.C.E First degree Masters Teaching qualification Yes	2 4 2 4 2 2 3 5 3 4	25.0 50.0 25.0 25.0 25.0 25.0 37.5 62.5 37.5 62.5 37.5 62.5
Ibadan North (urban) Ibadan Northwest (urban) School type Urban public Urban private Rural public Gender Male Female Religion Christian Islam Educational cadre N.C.E First degree Masters Teaching qualification Yes	4 2 2 2 3 5 3 3	50.0 25.0 25.0 25.0 25.0 37.5 62.5 37.5 62.5
Ibadan Northwest (urban) School type Urban public Urban private Rural public Gender Male Female Religion Christian Islam Educational cadre N.C.E First degree Masters Teaching qualification Yes	2 4 2 2 3 5 3	25.0 50.0 25.0 25.0 37.5 62.5 37.5 62.5
School type Urban public Urban private Rural public Gender Male Female Religion Christian Islam Educational cadre N.C.E First degree Masters Teaching qualification Yes	4 2 2 3 5 5 3	50.0 25.0 25.0 37.5 62.5 37.5 62.5
Urban public Urban private Rural public Gender Male Female Religion Christian Islam Educational cadre N.C.E First degree Masters Teaching qualification Yes	2 2 3 5 3 3	25.0 25.0 37.5 62.5 37.5 62.5
Urban public Urban private Rural public Gender Male Female Religion Christian Islam Educational cadre N.C.E First degree Masters Teaching qualification Yes No	2 2 3 5 3 3	25.0 25.0 37.5 62.5 37.5 62.5
Rural public Gender Male Female Religion Christian Islam Educational cadre N.C.E First degree Masters Teaching qualification Yes	2 3 5 3 3	25.0 37.5 62.5 37.5 62.5 37.5
Gender Male Female Religion Christian Islam Educational cadre N.C.E First degree Masters Teaching qualification Yes	3 5 3 3	37.5 62.5 37.5 62.5 37.5
Male Female Religion Christian Islam Educational cadre N.C.E First degree Masters Teaching qualification Yes	5 3 3	62.5 37.5 62.5 37.5
Female Religion Christian Islam Educational cadre N.C.E First degree Masters Teaching qualification Yes	5 3 3	62.5 37.5 62.5 37.5
Religion Christian Islam Educational cadre N.C.E First degree Masters Teaching qualification Yes	5 3 3	37.5 62.5 37.5
Christian Islam Educational cadre N.C.E First degree Masters Teaching qualification Yes	3	62.5 37.5
Christian Islam Educational cadre N.C.E First degree Masters Teaching qualification Yes	3	62.5 37.5
Educational cadre N.C.E First degree Masters Teaching qualification Yes	3	37.5
N.C.E First degree Masters Teaching qualification Yes		
First degree Masters Teaching qualification Yes		
Masters Teaching qualification Yes	4	50.0
Masters Teaching qualification Yes		20.0
Yes	1	12.5
Yes		
No	7	87.5
	1	12.5
18-3		

Table 4.1.1 Socio-demographic characteristics of pupils' who participated in FGDs

Table 4.1.2 Socio-demographic characteristics of teachers' who participated in the focus group discussion

	n	0/0
Districts of schools		
Akinyele (semi-urban)	8	33.3
Ibadan North (urban)	8	33.3
Ibadan Northwest (urban)	8	33.3
School Type		
Urban public	8	33.3
Urban private	8	33.3
Rural public	8	33.3
Gender		
Male	6	25
Female	18	75
Religion		
Christian	14	58.3
Islam	10	41.7
Educational cadre		
N.C.E	9	37.5
First degree	15	62.5
Years of teaching experience	▼	
≤ 15	4	16.6
≥ 16	20	83.4

JANVERSITA

4.2 KEY INFORMANTS AND TEACHERS PERCEPTIONS ON THE NEED FOR MENTAL HEALTH PROGRAMMES IN PRIMARY SCHOOLS.

Question 1

What comes to your mind when you hear about 'mental illness' or 'mental health problems' in children?

This question explores the perceptions of school administrators and teachers on common mental health problems among school children. There were 8 themes identified in response to this question. These included: 'Stigmatizing words' 'Psychological problems' 'Academic problems' 'Problems with development' 'Problems from family background' 'School environment' 'Brain issues' and 'Evoking a negative emotional feeling'.

Theme 1

Stigmatizing words

Respondents used stigmatizing labels such as mentally retarded, madness, insanity, not ok and sick up stairs to describe their first thoughts of child mental illness.

Mentally retarded

'To me it means when somebody or an individual is mentally retarded' (Male, Schools Board).

<u>Madness</u>

'If we say its mental illness, one would first think or thought that person is mad' (Female, Public school 1).

'When I hear mental health problems, me I think of a child, the possibility of madness from the child' (Female, private school 1)

Sick up stairs

'Well, when we are talking about mental illness or mental disability it will come to one's mind like somebody that is not really okay up stairs' (Female, Schools Board).

Insanity

'Someone that is insane' (Female, Schools Board).

'It might be a kind of insanity in people' (Male, Schools Board).

Theme 2

Psychological problems

'When somebody is psychologically deficient or psychologically the person is not ok. To me that is what it means to be mentally challenged or mentally ill' (Male, Schools Board).

'Someone that is psychologically affected those are the things that will come to one's mind' (Female, Schools Board).

Academic problems

'Mental health problem is when we discover some mismanagement in children that will not help them learn very well or perform well in their education we say they have mental' (Female, Public school 3).

Theme 4

Problems with developments

'What I understand by mental illness is maybe when a child is not able to do what he/she is supposed to do at a particular age' (Female, Private school 1).

'It can be a problem based on psychological development of the child while growing' (Male, Private school 2).

Theme 5

Problems from family background / Dysfunctional Home

'Mental health problems in child is family genetic problem, problem from the family background between husband and wife can affect the child' (Male, Private school 2).

'May be the childhood background or the environment is what is affecting the childs mental health' (Female, public school 1).

Theme 6

School environment

'May be the environment of the school and the way the school operates can result into mental problems' (Male, Private school 2).

Theme 7

Brain issues

'The first thing that comes to my mind when I hear mental problems is whether that particular child is having some issues with his or her brain in remembering and assimilating things' (Female, public school 4).

Theme 8

Evoking a Negative Emotional Feeling e.g fear

'I feel so fearful to hear that a child is mentally retarded, ah! It is very bad' (Female, public school 4)

Question 2

What are the common signs and symptoms of mental health problems in children in this environment?

This question explores the perceptions of school administrators and teachers about common mental health problems in school children. There were 4 themes identified in response to this question. These included: 'Problems with academics' 'Behavioural problems' 'Emotional problems' 'Sleeping and eating problems'

Theme 1

Problems with academics

Respondents described poor concentration, loss of interest in academics and poor performance as symptoms of mental health problems in children.

Poor concentration / lost in thought

'When you say 2+2 maybe, he may be carried away, playing with others when you are teaching them, when you call him that 2+2 he may say 10 or 11 because the concentration is not there.

Lack of concentration in class' (Female, Public school 2).

'You can identify them with their performance maybe at a time if you ask them a question he is not around (awake), you will call him to say....maybe you will be asking one question and he will be answering another question' (Female, Public school 3).

Loss of interest in academic

'Like the one in my class now, he was brilliant before but now he couldn't do much in academics' (Female, public school 1)

Poor performance in class

'Well, based on what I have seen, when a child is mentally ill, in terms of academics, academically the performance of such child will be very poor, very, very poor. It will not be anything to write home about' (Male, Schools board).

'Like when the child is not able to co-ordinate him/herself according to what is expected or may be in reading / learning, he/she is not able to do what we have in the scheme, so you begin to wonder what is wrong with the child' (Female, Private school 1).

Theme 2

Behavioural problems

Respondent mentioned inactiveness, unfriendliness, socially isolated and truancy as a symptom of mental health problems among school children.

'Some children may be playing truancy in school because there is loss of interest in the academic work they are doing, because they can't cope with it so they will rather prefer running away from school' (Male, Schools Board).

'Like keeping to oneself, inactiveness, unfriendliness and so on' (Female, public school 2).

'A child that is sitting alone, you know, that behaves somehow in the class' (Female, private school 2).

Theme 3

Emotional problems

Key informants used words like moody, unhappy and depressed to describe symptoms of mental health problems in children.

'Unstable mind of the child even in the class. Disturbing others, looking moody, looking unhappy, looking depressed or looking even suppress among peers. Those are the signs I have discovered' (Male, Private school 2).

'The first thing is when you see a pupil or a child looking dull, or if you see that person or maybe that child is even sharp before but suddenly turns cold and is sluggish' (Female, Public school 1).

Theme 4

Sleeping and Eating problem

'The child that sleeps always or eats too much' (Female, Public school 3).

Question 3

What approaches and resources currently exist to address mental illness or mental health problems in your school?

This question explores the perceptions of school administrators and classroom teachers of resources currently available to tackle mental health problems in schools. There were 5 themes identified in response to this question. These included: 'Special school placement' 'Corporal punishments' 'Individual counsel for the child' 'Mentorship' 'Speaking to parents' 'Prayers' and 'No resources'.

Theme 1

Special school placement

'What we really do is to invite their parents and ask them to take them to the appropriate school that the child will fit into. This is a primary school, so we didn't have much to do with the child

but their parent, we try to encourage the parent and ask them to take the child to the normal place' (Female, Private school 1).

Theme 2

Corporal punishment

'We don't have any approach, we may cane them' (Female, Public school 2)

'To curb undesired behaviour in a child, one can use cane but just two or three strokes' (Female, Public school 1).

Theme 3

Speaking to the parents

'Based on the available information from the head of schools, the headmasters and the headmistress, sometimes they call the parent to discuss with them. To tell them what their wards I mean the children are passing through' (Male, Schools Board).

'The first thing we do is to invite the parents to ask them are they aware of their child's problem, before the school will take it take it up' (Female, private school 2).

Individual counseling for the child

'I believe the use of cane is an archaic system of discipline we call them, talk to them verbally' (Male, Public school 4).

'We suppose to use guidance and counselor for such child but in all our schools we don't have, but in all primary schools all the teachers are the counselors because we do all the subject and we counsel them too, you know we are local parents' (Female, public school 4)

Theme 5

Mentorship

'We use the word mentorship, we try to mentor these children. We look at their weaknesses and we try to guide them out' (Male, private school 2).

Theme 4

Prayers

'If it has to do with spiritual aspect then we pray along' (Female, private school 2).

No resources

'No we don't have any resources and we have never had one' (Female, public school 1).

'Let assume we have a child with that problem, definitely there would be solutions or provision for such situation but presently we do not have any resources in relation to that' (Female, public school 4).

Question 4

How much do you feel teachers and other school workers should know about mental illness or mental health problem in children?

This question explores the perceptions of school administrators and teachers on mental health problems in school children. There were 2 theme identified in response to this question. All the respondents agreed that teachers should know about mental illness or mental health problems in children. Reasons given included for 'Identification', 'Referral' and 'Better performance'.

Theme 1

Identification

'The teachers must know in order to easily identify such a child' (Male, School Board).

'Everybody (teachers) should be aware of that, as a trained teacher you should study your pupils, each pupils in the class, so that you know how they are doing and if you notice any strange behavior you have to report' (Female, Private school 1).

Theme 2

Referral

'When we see such symptoms in any child we will be able to call the attention of the parents. Yes, to take that children or learner to the hospital to treat him or her and to be prayerful too' (Female, public school 4).

Theme 2

Better performance

'So that our work as teachers will be easier and the child will be able to perform better' (Female, public school 2).

Question 5

What sort of roles should teachers play in addressing mental health needs of children in schools and what sort of training will teachers need in order to be more competent and comfortable addressing mental health issues in schools?

This question explores the perceptions of school administrators and teachers on resources currently available to tackle mental health problems in school children. There were 4 themes identified in response to roles teachers can play in addressing mental health needs of children in schools. These included: 'Counselling' 'Monitoring the child' 'Discipline' and 'Mental health promotion activities'. There were 2 themes identified in response to the sort of training teachers need to be more competent in addressing mental health issues in schools. Many of the respondents expressed their concern on the limited knowledge primary school teachers has in handling mental health issues and they proffer solutions to included: 'Incorporating mental health concepts in teacher training curriculum' and 'Organising trainings on mental health for school personnel'.

Theme 1

Counselling the parents

'Should there be any one, you will invite the parent, give them guidelines and if the parent is not around you will find the guidance of such a child, whatever you discover you will relate to the parent so that when such child get back home they will know how to treat him/her' (Male, public school 4).

Monitoring the child

'Yes, as a teacher we are a model to this children and an example. I think the teacher should be caring. In fact, I think the teacher can separate them, that is the approach we always use. Sometimes we separate the child from other children, place them beside the teacher so that the teacher has a regular monitor, monitor these children very very well, so that is the method we apply' (Male, Private school 2).

Theme 3

Discipline

'The role I think the teacher can play is maybe they should try their best to correct him/her when they are misbehaving' (Female, Public school 2).

Theme 4

Mental health promotion activities

'Well, teachers they are just like parents too it is just that their own is limited, it's confined to the environment of the school. They can play the role of a parent to the children by having a listening hear to them to see what is happening to that child and counsel the child properly.

More so, teachers need to show love to them because if you need to catch someone that is or you have to work on someone with mental issues you have to show them love' (Male, Schools Board).

I think what we should do is, like our school now this is a private school, after the assembly we gather in our various classes, we interact with the children, make them happy, and as you are making them happy you are watching them, you are watching their behaviour to know if there is anyone that feels somehow, as a mother, because we are their mothers, we are their everything. For me I will call the child, what happen, they will tell me, we should try to make them like our own children. So that they would be able to open up' (Female, private school 2).

The following themes were in response to the second part of the question on 'what sort of training will teachers need in order to be more competent and comfortable addressing mental health issues in schools'?

Theme 1

Incorporating mental health concept in teachers training curriculum

'I think the background should be from the teacher training school, this aspect should be introduced inside the curriculum, I think it should be a compulsory course for all teachers in training to take, not only in N.C.E lat level. No, it should be from level 1, 2 and 3, so that by the time they get to the field they will be able to perform perfectly' (Male, Private school 2)

Organizing regular training on mental health for school personnel

'Teachers need adequate trainings that includes seminars, so they can know how to address issues affecting the children' (Female, Public school 2).

'Seminars, if government creates seminars to attend it can help us on what to do for the children' (Female, Private school 1)

'We need orientation from mental health experts, (Female, public school 2)

Question 6

Would you feel comfortable asking a child about mental illness or mental health problems?

This question explores the perceptions of school administrators and teachers about mental health problems in school children. There were 3 themes identified in response to this question. Some of the respondents described some level of comfort addressing mental health problems in school. Reasons given included: 'Part of teachers' responsibility and 'To assist the child''. Other respondents expressed feelings of not being comfortable. Reasons given included: 'Not exposing children to mental health issues at tender age' 'Shame / stigma' and 'Invoke parents wrath'...

Parts of teachers' responsibility

'Once you observe that child or pupil, you just have to call, you let that child or pupil feel comfortable as well, you should feel comfortable as a mother and as a parent and as a teacher, in talking to that pupil' (Female, Public school 1).

'Well, you know one of the works of a teacher or a manager is to find out issues with your students. I think a teacher should be comfortable to ask the question 'how far about your life? Why is this thing still going on? In fact, we should be able to consult the parent also on what we discover' (Male, Private school 2).

'Yes, all teachers have to feel comfortable, you know teachers are local parents. So I think to ask a child about how he or she is feeling or passing through, you need to feel comfortable with the child. You know children to assess them you have to feel comfortable with them, you need to make them relax' (Male, Schools Board).

Theme 2

To assist the child

'Of course why not? It's part of our duty when you ask you will not labour in vain, you will be able to help the child (Female, private school 2).

Reasons given for lack of comfort included:

Theme 1

Not exposing children to mental health issues at tender age

'I don't think I would at all, because they might not even know what we are talking about. So we don't need to expose the children to such a thing' (Female, Private school 1).

Theme 2

Invoke parent's wrath

'We will not be comfortable in school. So if you ask, when the parent hears that you ask they will be furious with that teacher, why asking?' (Female, public school 4).

Theme 3

Shame and stigma

'Shame and stigma may be part of it because nobody will see somebody that is doing one kind and will want to associate with such person' (Female, Private school 1).

Question 7

How do you think parents would feel about mental health issues being addressed in school?

This question explores the perceptions of school administrators and teachers about mental health problems in school children. There were 4 themes identified in response to this question. Some of the respondents felt parents should be co-operative / supportive. Reasons given included 'Means of relief or help to parents'. While others felt parents would feel bad / not receptive. Reasons given included: 'Mental health issues are better addressed in special schools' and 'Mental illness in children sounds inappropriate'. However, respondents from private schools felt the responses of the parents depend on the approach used by the school in handling such matter.

Theme 1

Means of relief / help to parents

'Ah! In fact parents will be so much happy because this thing is as if is a stigma but if they see somebody that will help them to come out of this situation they find themselves. I think the parents will be very, very happy' (Female, Schools Board).

'They need to feel very fine because not all of these signs and symptoms would be discovered at home so by the time any pupil is relating to the friends and teachers in the school, the teacher can discover such a thing and when you discover such a thing and you invite the parent, the parent suppose to feel okay, even to feel happy and thank such a teacher that I am very happy you can discover such a thing in my child' (Male, Public school 4).

Reasons why parents would not be happy included:

Theme 1

Mental health issues are better address in special schools

'The parents will not take it lightly, they will not like it because this is not a special school, so it is better done in a special school rather than bring it to this type of school' (Female, Private school 1).

Theme 2

Mental illness in children sounds inappropriate

'Some parents will feel bad because it sounds somehow that a child have mental illness. They will feel bad, they will come to fight the teacher' (Male, public school 1).

Theme 3

It depends on the school's approach

'The behaviour of the parent depends on how the school handles it or give it (present) to parents. It's the matter of the school and the parent. It's not public. Invite the parent and sit with them in the office and you discuss with them one-on-one amicably not that coming to the assembly and announcing. No! It shouldn't be' (Female, private school 2).

Question 8

What resources do you feel would be necessary in order to address mental health issues in

schools?

This question explores the perceptions of school administrators and teachers on the resources needed to address mental health problems in school. There were 3 themes identified in response to this question. These included: 'Training' 'Mental health personnel' and 'Mental health promotion Facilities'.

Theme 1

Training

Developing training programmes for parents and teachers

'For me I think the first one should be like the school should organize a meeting or training for the parents even during PTA meetings, talk to them about mental health disorders. First thing is actually training. If you focus on materials, how many schools can get the materials? So I think the first thing is to train the parents, train the teachers, there should be regular training center like I said then' (Male, Private school 2).

'We need to conduct trainings in other for the teachers to be able to perform well, I mean to work effectively on these issues' (Female, Schools Board).

Theme 2

Posting mental health personnel to schools

Participants mentioned mental health experts such as psychiatrists, counselors, nurses and social workers as important personnel necessary to address mental health issues in schools.

Posting mental health experts to schools

'Well, on a serious note every school need a mental health professional to be available with them, to be part of their counseling section in the school, so that it is going to help the school in moving forward and it will reduce some kind of inefficiency of the school' (Male, Schools Board).

'May be you can have a specialist on the mental somethingMay be a psychiatrist doctors in the school to provide the drugs or examine the children on the type of problem they have in their mental something' (Female, Public school 3).

'I think the school can build a mini center and equip it with normal clinic, then find somebody who is in that line. Like in primary school, we don't have a counselor, most primary school, maybe we can also apply the idea of getting somebody in that aspect to focus on that, then the second thing is the material to use, I don't think we have the knowledge for now' (Male, Private school 2).

Mental health promotion facilities

Participant mentioned mental health promotion materials and hospital equipment as resources necessary to address mental health issues in schools.

Providing mental health equipments

'Hmmm, anything they used in the hospital should be able to apply in the school as well but so far I am not a doctor, I am a teacher, I can't be monitoring those gadgets. Buy devices used in the hospitals. We mean what is good for the goose is good for the ganders. What is good for them in the hospitals is also good for us here (school), so that we can apply as first aid any way' (Male, Public school 4).

Mental health promotion materials

'I have even said it earlier, there should be a class or a block of building that can attract pupils or children. They should put in those classes various things that would boost the brain. Even when they come to school with problems, when they get to that place, they would feel lively again, so that one would not make them to be depressed' (Female, Public school 1).

'May be posters or frequent information about mental health to pupils, may be class by class.

When they are informed they will quickly come out when they are feeling strange' (Female, private school 2).

'Poster is the best, posters or use of charts then once a while you can give them audio-visual something (materials) to watch relating to the mental health' (Female, private school 2).

Question 9

What resources are available in your community to address mental health issues in children?

This question explores the resources currently available to tackle mental health problems in schools or communities. There were 6 themes identified in response to this question. These included: 'Special school' 'Hospitals' 'Mental health worker' 'Separate class' 'No resources' and 'Use of school rules'.

Theme 1

Special school

'Like we did recently, we refer one to the Chesire School for the disability, once we discover it is not this type of school something, we have to refer them. There is another school in 'Gate' that also take care of such children' (Male, Private school 2).

Theme 2

Separate class

'The method we use is that we separate class with white boards where some of these children we take care of them.

Theme 3

Hospitals

'Many schools I don't think they have materials or any resources but I know the federal and state hospitals will have and may serve as resources' (Male, Schools Board)

'Sometimes we refer them to hospitals' (Male, Private school 2).

Theme 4

Mental health workers

'We have resources but not adequate or let me say it is not up to what is expected. Presently we have counselors, but we still need more counselors' (Female, Schools Board).

No resources

'Presently in my school we don't have any resources' (Female, Private school 1).

'I don't think we have any resources for now, we don't have any resources' (Female, Public school 3).

Theme 6

Use of school rules

'There are rules and regulations for the pupils to follow, like do not fight, do not bully one another' (Female, private school 2).

Question 10

What barriers exist which prevent children receiving mental health treatment in schools and the community?

This question explores the perceptions of school administrators and teachers on the barriers to receiving mental health care in schools. There were 4 themes identified in response to this question. These included: 'Stigma / shame' 'ignorance' and 'No mental health in school curriculum'.

Shame / Stigma

'Because of what happen to those children, people might not want to be very close to their parent and that may be the constrain' (Female, Private school 1).

'Yes, there are a lot of barriers. Number one, people are ashamed of these, right from the parents, some parents are ashamed of these children they don't want to be identify with the children that is been derailed. They are ashamed, apart from been ashamed they see it as a stigma on them. So people are ashamed of them which is not suppose to be so if they see people that will help them out the parent will be happy, such a child too will be happy' (Female, Schools Board).

Theme 2

Inadequate awareness

'Yes, the first thing for mental health something is that the orientation is as little as nothing, people don't have the knowledge about it. In fact, we don't consider it as anything that is part of the school at all' (Male, Private school 2).

No mental health in school curriculum

'The governments by not putting even mental health in the school curriculum' (Female, Public school 1).

Question 11

If you were in charge of creating a school mental health programme what suggestions would you have for school administrators and policy makers?

This question explores the perceptions of school administrators and teachers about mental health problems in school children and as well explores the resources necessary to tackle mental health problems in schools. There were 7 themes identified in response to this question. These included: 'Organise training for school workers' 'Provision of mental health facilities/ equipments' 'Creating awareness or enlightgment programmes' 'Ensure continuity of school based mental health services' 'Educating parents' 'Stake holders involvements' and 'Provision of mental health personnel'.

Theme 1

Organise training for school workers

'My first suggestion should be that teachers should go for workshop on mental health, teach them, and give them apparatus to bring down to schools' (Female, Public school 1)

Provision of Mental health facilities/equipment

'To equip schools with good medical equipment that is related to this mental something and to give us personnel that can help administer' (Male, Public school 4).

'Government should create a center for these children, a rehabilitation center for the affected children' (Female, public school 1).

Theme 3

Creating awareness / Enlightment programme

'Well, I think there should be a need for increase in awareness. It is only when you know there is a problem that is when you can tackle it, if you don't know then it cannot be tackled not to talk of been solved. (Male, Schools Board).

'My suggestions will be that we need seminars at first because we need to enlighten people, people are not more enlighten in these aspect. You know such a child they are been neglected, they do not see them as part of the society, so we have to start with training, we have to train the parents, yes let's start from the parent they have to bring the children out, they should not keep

them in-door and the children too, let's tell them this is not the end of the world they can still achieve whatever they want to achieve. Training is the number one thing. They have to conduct training for the parents, for the teachers and also for the children that are concern' (Female, Schools Board).

Theme 4

Provision of mental health experts

Government should also provide for us to put mental health experts in schools and to organize school mental health programmes so as to help all these children' (Male, Schools Board).

Theme 5

Ensure continuity of school based mental health services

'What I will say is that it should be a continuous exercise, if it's not a continuous something, you know another government will change it, they can abandon it for like a year or six months' (Female, Urban Public school 1).

Theme 6

Provision of mental health personnel

'Government should employ personnel, professionals and guidance counselors, they should provide the needs of these children' (Male, public school 1).

'We have to have personnel, doctors or something to treat it like if I have my own school, a special doctor that knows about it, specialist the school should have one in case of emergences' (Female, private school 2).

Theme 7

Stakeholders' involvements

'A forum that each school administrator has to be present and where the issues will be addressed generally' (Female, private school 2).

4.3 PUPILS PERCEPTIONS ON THE NEED FOR MENTAL HEALTH PROGRAMMES IN PRIMARY SCHOOLS.

Question 1

What can you say about mental illness or mental health problems in children?

This question explores the perceptions of pupils about common mental health problems in school children. There were 4 themes identified in response to this question. These included: 'Stigmatizing words' 'Brain injury / malfunction' 'Bullying' and 'Abnormal behaviour / strange behaviour'.

Theme 1

Stigmatizing words

Participants from public schools used stigmatizing word like 'madness' to describe their first thought of mental illness unlike pupils from private school who did not.

Madness

'It means the person behaves madly' (Female, Urban public school).

'It means the person is mad' (Female, Rural public school).

Abnormal/Strange behaviour

'It means the person behaves abnormally or strangely' (Female, Rural public school).

'I think it's like the person doesn't know what he or she is doing again, like what is wrong and what is right' (Female, Urban private school).

Theme 3

Brain injury or malfunction

'It means an injury to the brain' (Male, Urban public school).

'May be the brain of the person is not working very well' (Male, Urban private school).

Theme 4

Bullying others

'When a person is threatening, (bullying) another person without any reason' (Male, Urban private school).

Question 2

Do you see children with mental illness or mental health problems in your class or school? If yes, how do you identify these children?

This question explores the perceptions of pupils about common mental health problems in school children. There were 4 themes identified in response to this question. All respondents agreed that they see children with mental health problems in their school. Reasons given are more of externalizing behavior. These included: 'Poor academic performance' 'Abnormal behaviour' 'Physical appearance' and 'Bullying'.

Theme 1

Poor academic achievement

'Low performance in the classroom' (Male, Urban private school).

'When a child doesn't understand what is been taught in the classroom' (Female, Urban public school).

Theme 2

Physical appearance

'Yes we have, he droots and vomits on himself most times, he comes to school dirty, (Female, Rural public school).

Theme 3

Abnormal Behavior

'When a person is sitting down and talking to him or herself' (Male, Urban private school).

'In his action, a child that behaves abnormally. In the class if the teacher says stand up, he will sit down, if the teacher says sit down he will stand up' (Female, Rural public school).

Theme 4

Bullying

'By bullying other persons (pupils) in the school without anyone offending' (Female, Urban private school).

Question 3

What means do your teachers or school administrators use to help children with mental illness or mental health problems in your school?

This question explores the perceptions of pupils on the resources currently available to tackle mental health problems in schools. There were 4 themes identified in response to this question. These included: 'Counselling' 'Provision of extra assistance' 'Corporal punishments' and 'Inviting the parents'.

Theme 1

Counselling the child

'The teacher can counsel the child' (Female, Urban public school).

'By admitting (referring) them to the school counselor' (Female, Urban private school).

'They advise pupils to relate well with one another and he advise those that are not performing well in their studies' (Male, Urban private school).

Theme 2

Provision of extra assistance

'Helping them in their studies, asking them questions' (Female, Urban private school).

'When it's break time by calling the child to teacher's table and explain some things to the child' (Male, Urban private school).

Theme 3

Flogging / Corporal punishments

'They use cane or punishment' (Female, Rural public school).

'Yes, there is use of cane or punishment like to kneel down' (Female, Urban private school).

Theme 4

Inviting the parents

'They will ask the child to call the parents' (Female, Urban public school).

'To call the parents' attention during parent teacher's meeting' (Female, Urban public school).

'By inviting the parent of the child' (Female, Urban private school).

Question 4

Do you think other children and teachers in your school should know about mental illness

or mental health problems in children? If yes, why?

This question explores the perceptions of pupils about mental health problems in school children.

There is only one theme identified in response to this question. All the pupils agreed that

children and teachers should know about mental health problems in children. Reason given

included: 'To provide help'

Theme 1

To provide help

The respondents agreed that their teachers and other school personnel can help children with

mental health problems if they are aware of such illnesses. Participant used her personal

experience as an example.

'I remember when I was in Titilope Memorial College, I did not do well in my studies, I copied

my colleagues. If my teacher beats me, I do run away from school. I do run sometime to the back

of the class to eat. One day a teacher beats me and later took me to a clinic around UI to test

what is wrong with my brain' (Female, Urban public school).

Question 5

Can you ask a child in your class or school about his or her mental health or mental health

problems?

72

This question explores the perceptions of pupils about mental health problems in school children. There is only one theme identified in response to this question. Pupils' focus group participants expressed not to feel comfortable asking a child about his / her mental health. Reasons included: 'Stigma'.

Theme 1

Stigma

'The child may be feeling as if am abusing him or her' (Male, Urban private school).

'Some children may not respond and some may respond negatively with abuse' (Male, Urban private school).

Question 6

How do you think your parents would feel if mental health issues are being addressed in school?

This question explores the perceptions of pupils about mental health problems in school children. There is only one theme identified in response to this question. Respondents felt parents would feel Apprehensive / Angry / Bad' if mental health issues are been addressed in schools. Reasons given included: 'for stigma'

Stigma

'My parent will be angry. They will feel somehow, like they are addressing their children badly' (Male, Urban private school).

'They will feel bad if they know their children is having mental problem, they will want to withdraw the child and put him in another school' (Male, Urban private school).

Question 7

What resources or equipment do you feel would be important to treat or address mental health issues in school?

This question explores the perceptions of pupil on resources needed to address mental health problems in schools. There were 2 themes identified in response to this question. These included: 'mental health personnel' and 'Mental health materials / facilities'

Theme 1

Mental health personnel

Respondents perceived that medical personnel such as doctors and counsellors are of great importance in tackling mental health issues in schools.

'To have a psychiatrist in the school' (Male, Urban private school).
'To invite a doctor to come and talk about it' (Female, Urban private school).
'To have a school guidance counselor' (Female, Urban private school).
Theme 2
Mental health materials/facility
'They will need resources like posters that talks about the mental health' (Female, Urban public
school).
'They will need a room and a chair for the doctors and counsellors that would come to help us
(Male, Urban public school).
Question 8
What are the barriers that can prevent children from receiving mental health treatments in
school and the community?

This question explores the perceptions of pupils on the barriers to receiving mental health care in schools. There is 1 theme identified in response to this question. These included: 'Shame/ stigma/ insult'. Pupils focus group participants had concern about other pupils who could be aware of their mental health issues if mental health problems are been address in schools and they perceived that such knowledge could be used against them in future.

Theme 1

Shame / Stigma / Insult

'His friends may be making jest of him' (Female, Urban private school).

'Some may be spreading the secrets around' (Male, Urban private school).

'Some other children may be insulting him or her' (Female, Rural public school).

'He might be threatened by someone (other children) who knows' (Male, Urban private school).

CHAPTER FIVE

DISCUSSION, RECOMMENDATIONS AND CONCLUSION

5.1 Discussion

This study was a cross-sectional qualitative study carried out in Ibadan metropolises to explore the perceptions of pupils, teachers and school administrators on the need for mental health programmes in primary schools.

This section discussed the results in the light of socio-demographic characteristics of the respondents, perceptions of mental health problems among primary school children, current approaches and resources available to tackle mental health problems within the school community, barriers to delivery of mental health services in schools and the proposed solutions.

5.1.1 Socio-demographic characteristics of the respondents

The mean age of teachers who participated in the teachers' focus group discussion was 37. 8 years (SD: 7.5) with a range of 5 to 32 years teaching experience. A Similar study carried out by Ibeziako *et al.*, obtained a mean age of 39.5 years (SD: 8.9) with a range of 2 to 34 years of teaching experiences. This also corroborate with a study carried out in East England by Loadeskiki, on teachers' recognition of children's mental health problems which found a mean age of 38.3 years (SD: 10.99) with a range of 5 to 20 years teaching experience (Loadeskiki, 2010). The similarities in age range and years of teaching experiences in these studies could probably be due to the fact that these ages are within the active service years (Okechukwe *et al.*, 2011).

The observation that more females participated in this study was similar to the findings from Peterson, on perceived barriers to developing a successful school based mental health programmes were 77.6% females who were more of school administrators and teachers participated in the study (Peterson, 2018). This also aligned with the study by Loadeskiki, were more than 50% of the participants were females and primary school teachers (Loadeskiki, 2010). This may be due to the fact that women engage in care giver services than men as teaching is one of the jobs that involve care giving (Medina *et al.*, 1999).

As concerned the Pupils participants, 51.7% were 10 years and below, and 58.6% were female. This was similar to that of a study carried out among young people in Niger-Delta, Nigeria, where 55% Male children and 57% female children participated (Jack-Ide, 2013). This also corroborate with another study in Uyo, Nigeria were 62.8% of the participants were below 10 years and 50.5% were female (Akpan *et al.*, 2010). This can be explained by the changes in pre-school entry age, as most children enters pre-primary before the age of 3 and finish primary education before 10 years or by 10 years (Olaniyan, 2011).

5.1.2 Perceptions of mental health problems in children

Mental health problems in children generated a similar perceptive among the various participants of this study. The views of the school administrators on mental illness or mental health problems are quite similar to that of the primary school pupils and teachers too. Participants used a wide range of terms such as 'madness', 'sick up stairs', 'not ok', 'brain injury', 'insanity', 'mentally retarded,' and 'abnormal behaviour' to express their understanding of mental illness in children. This was similar to the findings from Ibeziako *et al*, on needs assessment for child mental health

programmes in primary schools (Ibeziako *et al.*, 2008). This was also in line with the findings from Ronzoni *et al*, on stigmatization of mental illness among Nigeria school children (Ronzoni *et al.*, 2010). This study revealed that Primary school pupils from the urban private school were less likely to use stigmatizing terms. The type of mental health information (either truth or myth) received by the pupils could have contributed to their attitudes or responses towards mental health disorders (Jack-Ide, 2016).

School administrators from urban private schools were less likely to use stigmatizing expressions and their responses suggested greater mental health awareness, especially among school children. This may be explained by the higher level of education attained by these administrators and diversity in their courses of study (Halpern-Manners *et al.*, 2016). This was in line with a study by Aghukwa, which reported that higher level of education among school teachers is significantly related to their positive perceptions towards mental illness (Aghukwa, 2009). This study also found that teachers' focus group participants from urban private school used stigmatizing words more than participants from public schools. This may be explained by the workload on private school teachers coupled with the interference of these behaviour with academic activites (Ofili *et al.*, 2009; Habtamu *et al.*, 2016).

Head teachers and teachers' focus group participants identified child family problems and school environmental problems as possible factors that could be responsible for mental illness among children. A similar study by Habtamu *et al.*, on perceptions of primary school teachers to school children's mental health problems in Southwest Ethiopia reported that teachers rated problems with primary support and poor school environment as cause of child mental health problems (Habtamu *et al.*, 2016). This was in line with the Ibeziako *et al* study, were problems with primary support is highlighted as one of the possible causes of mental illness among

children (Ibeziako *et a*l., 2008). This also corroborates with a study in Germany, which reported that poor school environment increases the risk for children developing mental health problems (Gerd, 2016).

Respondents from this study used informal methods such as observing changes in child's behaviour and academic performance to identify different symptoms of mental health problems in children. The symptoms mentioned included; behavioural problems, problems with academics, emotional problems (such as depression and isolation) and physical appearance. This was also similar to the findings from Ibeziako *et al* study, were respondents (teachers) identified poor academic performances as a major sign of mental illnesses in children. This also aligned with the finding from Pederson *et al*, on school functioning and internalizing problems in young school children which reported behavioural and academic problems as signs of mental health problems in school children (Pederson *et al*, 2019). This finding is consistent with studies that have shown that there are similarities between the range of disorders in developed countries and Sub-Sahara Africa (Michael Ogundele., 2018: Gerd, 2016; Center for Disease Control CDC, 2011).

Head teachers and teachers' focus group participants mentioned more of internalizing child mental health behavioural problems (social withdrawal, sad or unhappy, self-isolation, depression, inactiveness) while pupils' focus group participants mentioned more of externalizing child mental health behavioural problems (bullying, physical appearance such as dirty and drooling, over activeness). Head teachers and teachers responses may be due to the interference of these behaviours with the learning process as studies shows that teachers are quick to highlight problems that obviously interferes with the teaching-learning process (Pederson *et al.*, 2019; Riglin *et al.*, 2014; Habtamu *et al.*, 2008; Mansour *et al.*, 2002 as cited by Ibeziako *et al.*,

2008). The findings from all respondents (School administrators, Teachers' Focus Group Participants, TFGP and Pupils' focus group participants, PFGP) aligned with the findings from a study by Smolleck *et al*, which reported behavioural issues (both internalizing and externalizing behaviours) to negatively affect all aspects (academics, social or emotional development) of a child's life both in and out of school settings (Smolleck *et al.*, 2017).

5.1.3 Current approaches and resources available to tackle mental health problems among primary school children.

Respondents from this study highlighted the fact that there is a general lack of formal mental health intervention programmes within the schools but they however mentioned different informal methods or approaches as current means of managing mental health problems among school children. These included child and parent focus approach ranging from provision of individual counsel to the child, inviting child's parent for counsel, mentoring the child, to provision of extra assistance to the pupils. The importance of providing timely interventions (formal or informal) to children in dire need of mental health services within their normal daily environment as long been established (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention CDC, 2011; Association for Children's Mental Health ACMH, 2018). This also aligned with the findings from a study by Nicolia *et al*, which reported that using a wide variety of formal or informal approaches for children with mental health problems is an important first step in promoting mental health among school children (Nicolia *et al*, 2003).

Mental health promotion strategies (including activities, materials and facilities) were mentioned in this study as resources necessary to tackle mental health problems among school children.

Respondents mentioned the use of visual (poster), audio-visual materials, building mental health facilities in schools as well as incorporating mental health concept in primary school curriculum. This findings aligned with systematic review of 16 interventions on effectiveness of school based mental health promotion activities which found mental health promotional activities to be effective among school children with mental health problems (Wells et al., 2003). This was similar to the findings by Pinfold et al, on the impact of awareness programmes in schools which reported that print and electronic media could serve as mental health promotion materials to school children (Pinfold et al., 2005). The findings from this study was also in line with a study on advancing school mental health globally by Weist and Murray, which reported that the inclusion of school mental health promotional programmes in schools curricula and policies is a lifelong solution to inadequate mental health services in the country (Weist and Murray, 2008). The findings from this study also corroborates the findings by Burton et al, which reported that mental health promotion activities strengthens and increases the well being of children and help them to stay mentally healthy and to cope with difficulties that they may face in future (Burton et al., 2014).

Key informants' and teachers' focus group participants from this study felt they were aware of mental health problems in children but that they however lack the required knowledge to address mental health problems in school children. Participants mentioned that having enough knowledge on mental health issues will bring about better improvement in pupils academic performances. Participants however, requested for a more formal training on mental health in form of seminars, conferences and workshops. Also, they requested that mental health concept be included in teachers training curriculum. This aligned with the findings from a study by Bella *et al*, which reported limited teachers' knowledge of child mental health and advocated for

incorporation of child and adolescent mental health care into teachers education curricula as a means of integrating school teachers as school mental health programmes collaborators (Bella *et al.*, 2011). Similarly, findings from a study by Walter *et al.*, found that teachers' knowledge about mental health issues are limited and that it affects their ability to manage mental health issues/problems adequately in their respective classrooms (Walter *et al.*, 2006). The findings of this study also corroborates the finding from Oshodi *et al.*, on perceived needs for school mental health among stakeholders which reported that having prior knowledge of mental health and school based mental health services influences positive attitude towards the implementation of school based mental health services (Oshodi *et al.*, 2013)

Key informants and teachers respondents from this study felt parent disposition to school mental health services will be positive as teachers will be able to identify children who requires mental health services since not all symptoms of mental illness will be displayed by the children in their respective homes. This corroborates with the finding from Ford and Nikapota, which revealed that teachers have the opportunity to detect majority of problems in school as children spend several hours in teachers' custody (Ford and Nikapoti, 2000). This was in contrast with the perspectives of pupils focus group participants who felt parents would be apprehensive if mental health issues are been addressed in school. Pupils' participants felt addressing mental health issues in schools is accusing children wrongly. This finding necessitates the need for more increase mental health awareness among primary school pupils in this part of the world. A study by Corrigan *et al.*, reported that providing correct information on issues relating to mental health help reduces the fear, myth and stigma associated with mental health (Corrigan *et al.*, 2002). This aligned with the findings from Naylor *et al.*, which found that educating young people in

school about mental health and mental health problems will influence positive perceptions on mental health (Naylor *et al.*, 2009)

Respondents from this study perceived the need for mental health experts in their schools. This may however remain impossible due to shortage of mental health experts in the country presently but task shifting these roles to school personnel's through adequate, appropriate and continuous training will help a great deal (Bella *et al.*, 2011; Ibeziako *et al.*, 2008). Key informants and teachers respondents felt school based mental health services are essential and therefore, perceived a need for such services in their schools. This was similar to a findings from Oshodi *et al.*, were students perceived the need for school mental health services (Oshodi *et al.*, 2013).

5.1.4 Barriers to delivery of mental health services in schools.

Respondents mentioned a variety of barriers to the implementation of school based mental health services and highlighted stigma as a higher barrier. Respondents described the effect of stigma on children suffering from mental health problems as one that remains with the child through the journey of life. Pupils' focus group participants mentioned more of shame, stigma and insult as an aftermath of mental health diagnosis in schools. The relationship between stigma and school based mental health services has long been established. A study on the perceptions of young people in relation to stigma in school based mental health services found that young people perceived stigma as a significant barrier to accessing school based mental health services (Bowers *et al.*, 2013). This was in line with the findings from Peterson, on perceived barriers to developing a successful school based mental health programmes which identifies stigma as the largest barrier to implementation of school based mental health programs (Peterson, 2018).

Extensive efforts are needed to overcome stigma and shames that could interfere with the implementation of school based mental health services (Jack-Ide, 2012). Inadequate awareness and ignorance was mentioned by the respondents as another barrier to delivery of school based mental health services. Key informants were of the opinion that there is little orientation on mental health and many school administrators did not view it as important part of the school. This was similar to a study on perceived barriers to developing successful school-based mental health programmes, which mentioned that inadequate orientation/training for school personnel forms a barrier to implementing school based mental health programmes (Peterson, 2018). This study also reported the non inclusion of mental health concepts in school curriculum as another barrier to implementation of school based mental health services.

5.1.5 Proposed solutions

Majority of the key informants and teachers focused group respondents mentioned school as an appropriate place to tackle mental health problems in children and that teachers can help a great deal to identify mental health issues in children if teachers and other school personnel are enlightened more on mental illness or mental health problems in children. Many of the respondents felt children spent more time in school with teachers and other school personnel (who serves as educators, carer, role models and surrogate parents) than they often do with their parents since most parents spend large part of their day trying to make ends meet, due the financial situation of the country. Respondents emphasised the importance of involving stakeholders including school administrators (proprietors and government officials) in the development of a school based mental health services. The need for stakeholders' involvement is

paramount in achieving a functional school based mental health services (Adelman, 2006). Key informants emphasised the need for continuity of mental health services in schools with strong support from the government once the programme is initiated. Key informants participants from this study represent rural and urban local school administrators who can influence their immediate environment a great deal. They can be instrumental in ensuring the establishment and continuity of such programmes within the school as they determine new activities that can take place within the schools.

Respondents provided useful suggestions to overcome existing barriers to delivery of mental health services within the school settings. They identified enlightenment campaign, mental health promotion materials (visual and audio-visual) and activities, trainings of school personnel and financial resources for successful implementation of mental health services in schools. Most of the respondents felt further trainings on child mental health to school personnel especially teachers will help as most teachers reported to have inadequate knowledge about mental health in children. The Key Informants' and teachers' perceptions of the reception of school mental health services in the community and with parents were very positive. Nevertheless, most of the respondents suggested ways to reduce stigma and shame associated with provision of mental health services within the school settings by appropriate packaging of the programme and management of the programme by competent hands. Respondents emphasised on public awareness of mental health issues in children to the general public especially parents.

5.1.6 Study limitation

This study is one of the few to explore the views of primary school pupils regarding school based mental health programmes in a low and middle income country. However, as pupils were sampled from only three primary schools, the small sample of schools used in this study may not have fully represented the entire state and, thus, views may not be generalized to all other primary school pupils in this region. A larger population would have given greater and better insight into some of the opinions expressed by the pupils. This study does not include parents who could potentially provide additional insight into the mental health needs of children.

5.2 Conclusion

This study explored the perceptions of school administrators, teachers and pupils on the need for child mental health programmes in primary schools in Ibadan, Southwest Nigeria. The findings from this study revealed a general lack of formal mental health interventions in schools, although, respondents described informal means of managing children with mental health problems. This is suggestive that a lot of mental health awareness programmes are on-going in schools. Key findings from this study included the need for more formal training among stakeholders, increased teachers knowledge on mental health and child mental health problems and inclusion of all education stakeholders in planning a functioning and lasting school based mental health programmes.

5.3 Recommendations

5.3.1 Recommendations for pupils

Based on the findings of this study, the followings are recommended:

- Mental health literacy should be incorporated into the educational system most important
 at the primary school level. This can include age appropriate lessons that introduce
 mental health to primary pupils and that will help to increase their knowledge as they
 progress.
- 2. Provisions of mental health promotion materials that will aid the understanding of mental health concept. Visual (posters) and audio-visual materials about various mental health issues among school children should be provided.

5.3.2 Recommendation for teachers and school administrators

Based on the findings of this study, the following are recommended:

- 1. Teachers education curricula should be re-design to incorporate basic mental health courses so that all teachers in training will have basic knowledge of child mental health problems that will prepare them for the task ahead of them.
- 2. Regular conferences, seminars and workshops on child mental health should be organized for all teachers and school administrators on regular basis.

5.3.3 Recommendations to Government officials

Based on the findings of this study, the following are recommended:

- Government should involve education stakeholders in the development of a functioning school based mental health services.
- 2. Government should assign trained mental health professionals to school so as to help the pupils with mental health issues and give more mental health insight to the teachers.
- 3. Government should embark on more community mental health awareness/campaigns.

(Word count: **3319**)

Total word count: 23,702

REFERENCES

- Aaron R., 2013. Taking evidence-based practices to school: using expert opinion to develop a brief evidence-informed school-based mental health intervention. Advances in School Mental Health Promotion. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/1754730x.2013.857903
- Abubakar-Abdullateef A, Adedokun B, & Omigbodun OO. 2017. A comparative study of the prevalence and correlates of psychiatric disorders in Almajiris and public primary school pupils in Zaria, Northwest Nigeria. Child and Adolescent Psychiatry and Mental Health, 11, Article 29. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13034-017-0166-3
- Adebayo A, & Akindele O. 2020. Public-Private Comparative Study of the quality of Implementation of the school Health Programmes in a Metropolitan city in Ibadan.

 JPublic Health (Berb) http://doi.org/1001003/s10389-019-01178-x
- Adelman S., & Taylor L. 1998. Reframing mental health in school and expanding school reforms

 . Educational Pschology, 33, 135-152. Doi: 10.1207/s1532
- Adelman S, 2006. Mental health in schools and public health. Rep 12(3)294-298.
- Adewuya A, & Famuyiwa O. 2007. Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder among Nigerian primary school children. Prevalence and co-morbid conditions. Journal of European child and Adolescent Psychiatry 16(1): 10-5 DOI:10.1007/s00787-006-0569-9
- Agbukwa C, 2009. Secondary school teachers' attitudes to mental illness in ogun state Nigeria.

 Afr.J.Psychiatry 12(1):50-63

- Ajiboye J, & Olatunde S. 2010. Impact of some environmental educational outdoor activates on Nigeria primary school publics environment knowledge, applied environmental education and communication 9:3, 149-158 doi: 10.1080/153015 x 2010.510020.
- Akpan, 2010. Behavioural problems among school children in Nigeria.doi: 10.4102/Saj Psychiatry v16i2.220 vol16 no 2
- Al-Obaidi A, Nelson D, AlBadawi G, Hicks H, & Guarino J. 2012. Child mental health and service needs in Iraq: beliefs and attitudes of primary school teachers. Child AdolescMent Health 2012;18;171–9. 20.
- Atilola O. 2016. Towards school mental health review in Nigeria: systematic review revealed the need for contextualized answers culturally-nuanced research. Journal of child and adolscent mental health 28(1):47-70 DOI: 10.2989/17280583.2016.1144607
- Bechard M, Haber D, Keyes S, Osher D, Rubenstein L, Whiteman C, Weld P, Well M,
 Weissberg R, Weist M. 2011. Realizing the Promise of the Whole School Approach to
 Children Mental Health: A Practical guide for schools. American institute for Research.

 http//promoteprevent.org/publication
- Belfer M. 2008. Child and adolescent mental disorders: the magnitude of the problem across the globe. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 49: 226-236. 3.
- Bella T, Omigbodun O, & Atilola O. 2011. Towards School Mental Health in Nigeria: Baseline Knowledge and Attitudes of Elementary School Teachers, Volume 4, 2011 Issue 3

 Advances in School Mental Health Promotion Pages 55-62 | Published online: 22 Dec 2011 https://doi.org/10.1080/1754730X.2011.9715636

- Bloem N, Gore M, & Patton, C. 2011. Global Burden of Diseases in young people aged 10-24 years: A Systematic analysis, Lancet 377: 2093-102.
- Bowers H, Manion I, Papadopoulos D, & Gauvreau E. 2013. Stigma in school-based mental health: Perceptions of young people and service providers. Child and Adolescent Mental Health, 18, 165–170. doi:10.111/j.1475-3588.2012.00673.x.
- Brian G. 2008. Kids Matter: A Population Health Model to Support Student Mental Health and Well-being in Primary Schools International Journal of Mental Health Promotion volume 10 issue 4 November 2008
- Bronfenbrenner U. 1989. Ecological systems theories. Annals of Child Development 6 149–87.
- Bruha L, Spyridou V, Forth G, & Ougrin, D. 2018. Global Child and Adolescent Mental Health:
 Challenges and Advances, London J PrimCare (Abingdon) 10(4):108-109. Doi:
 10.1080/17571472.2018.1484332.
- Burton M, Pavord E, & Williams B. 2014. An introduction to child and adolescent mental health.

 Thousand oaks: CA: sage publications.
- Corrigan P. 2004. How stigma interferes with mental health care. American Psychologist 59: 614–625.
- Centre for Disease Prevention and Control 2011. SHPs: Improving the health of our nation's youth at a glance. Chronic disease prevention and health promotion. Atlanta, USA. http://www.cdc.gov/healthyyouth (22/8/12).

- Cortina A., Anisha S, Mina F, & Ramchandani A. 2012. Prevalence of child mental health problems in sub-Sahara Africa: a systematic review Arch PediatrAdolesc Med 166(3):276-81 http://doi.10.1001/archpediatrics.2011.592
- Creswell, J. W. (2012). Educational Research: Planning, Conducting and Evaluating Quantitative and Qualitative Research (4th Ed.). Boston, MA: Pearson.
- Del Casale A, Manfredi G, Kotzalidis D, Serata D, & Rapinesi C. 2013. Awareness and education on mental disorders in teenagers reduce stigma for mental illness: a preliminary study. J Psychopathol 19: 208-212
- Durlak J, Roger P, Allison B, Dymnicki D, & Taylor Kriston B. 2011. The impact of enhancing students' social and emotional learning: A meta-Analysis of school-based universal interventions child Development volume 82, issue 1 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2010.01562.x
- Eklund K, & Dowdy E. 2014. Screening for behavioral and emotional risk versus traditional school identification methods. SchMent Heal. 2014;6(1):40–9.
- Esan O, Jibril A, Julian E, Lola K, Fadahunsi F, & Oye G. 2014..Mental Health Care in

 Anglophone West Africa. Psychiatric services 'ps.psychiatryonline.org 'September 2014

 Vol. 65 No.9
- Evans S, Glasss-Siegel M, Frank A, Van Treuren R, Lever A, & Weist, D. 2003. Overcoming the challenges of funding school mental health programs in: Weist M.D, Evans SW, Lever N.A (eds) Handbook of school mental health advancing practice and research. Issues in

- clinical child psychology. Springer, Boston,MA. http://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-73313-5_6
- Flick, U. (2010). An introduction to qualitative research (4th Ed.). New Delhi, India: Sage

 Publication. Geertz, C. (1973). The interpretation of cultures. New York, NY: Basic

 Books, Inc
- Forness R, Freeman N, Paparella T, Kauffman M, & Walker M. 2012. Special education implications of point and cumulative prevalence for children with emotional and behavioral disorders. Journal of Emotional and Behavioral Disorders, 20, 4–18. doi:10.1177/1063426611401624.
- Frabutt M, & Speach, G, 2012. Principals' perspective on school mental health and wellness in U.S. Catholic elementary schools. School Mental Health, 4, 155–169.doi:10.1007/s12310-0129081-1
- Gerd Schutte Korne. 2016. Mental health problems in a school seting in children and adolescent.

 Dtsch Arztebl int. 2016 mar;113(11):183-190
- Greenberg T, Weissberg P, O'Brien U, Zins E, Fredericks L, Resnik H, & Elias J. 2003.

 Enhancing school-based prevention and youth development through coordinated social, emotional, and academic learning. American Psychologist 58: 466–474
- Habtamu K, Hailay A, Reine F, & Mubarek A. 2016.Perception of primary school teachers to school children's mental health problems in Southwest Ethiopia.Int J Adolesc Med Health, pp. DOI 10.1515/ijamh-2016-0089

- Halpern-Manners A, Schnabel L, Hernandez E, Silberg J,& Eaves L. 2016. The relationship between education and mental health: New evidence from a discordant twin study. Social force, vol 95, issues 1, pages 107-131. https://doi.org/10.1093/s8/sow035
- Hoagwood K, & Johnson J. 2003. School psychology: a public health framework: 1. From evidence-based practices to evidence-based policies. Journal of School Psychology 41 3–22.
- Humphrey N, & Wigelsworth M. 2016. Making the case for universal school-based mental health screening. Emotional and Behavioural Difficulties. 2016;21(1):22–42. 25.
- Ibeziako P, Omigbodun O, Bella T, & Myron B. 2008. Assessment of needs for a school based mental health programmes in Nigeria: perspectives of school administrators'.International review of psychiatry 20(3):271-80 DOI:10.1080/09540260802000354
- Jack-Ide O. 2016. Secondary School Students Awareness and Attitudes, Towards Mental Health Disorders in Bayelsa State, Nigeria. Ann of Behav Sci. 2016, 2:1. DOI: 10.21767/2471-7975.100022.
- Jack-Ide O. 2013 .Barriers to mental health services utilization in the Niger Delta region of Nigeria: service users' perspectives. The Pan African Medical Journal. 2013;14:159. doi:10.11604/pamj.2013.14.159.1970.
- Joffe L, & Black E. (2012). Social, emotional and behavioural functioning of secondary students with low academic and language performance: perspectives from students, teachers and parents. Language speech and hearing services in schools. 2012; 43: 461-473. https://dx.doi.org/10.1044/0161-1461/2012/11-0088.

- Kern L, George P, & Weist M. 2016. Step-by-step support for students with emotional and behavioral problems: Prevention and intervention strategies. Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brookes.
- Kern L, Mathur F, Albrecht S, Rozalski M & Russell J. 2017. The need for school-Based Mental Health Services and Recommendations for Implementation school Mental Health, 9 (3), pp. 205-217.
- Kessler C, Berglund P, Demler O, Jin R, Merikangas R, & Walters, E. 2005. Life time prevalence and age-of-onset distributions of DSM-IV disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2005;62(6):593–602. 32.
- Kimberly S. 2018. Rural School Based Mental Health Services: Parent Perceptions of Needs and Barriers Children and Schools, volume 40, issues 2, pages 104-111 https://doi.org/10.1093/cs/cdy002
- Langer A, Wood J, Wood A, Garland F, Landsverk J, & Hough, L. 2015. Mental health service use in schools and non-school-based outpatient settings: Comparing predictors of service use. School Mental Health, 7, 161–173.doi:10.1007/s12310-015-9146-z.
- Legg T. 2018. Mental Health Basics: Types of Mental Illness, Diagnosis, Treatment, and More https://www.healthline.com
- Naggar A. 2013. Attitudes towards persons with mental illness among university students.

 ASEAN Journal of Psychiatry 14.
- Nancy L. 2017. School Mental Health Is Not Just for Students: Why Teacher and School Staff Wellness Matters' Rep EmotBehavDisordYouth; 17(1): 6–12.

- National association of school psychologist (2016) School Based Mental Health Services:

 Improving Students Learning and Well-Being. Retrieved from http://:www.nasoponline
 .org
- Naylor P, Cowie A, Walters J, Talamelli L, & Dawkins K. 2009. Brit J Psychiatr 194: 365-370.
- Newlove T, Moore D, Ukoumunne C, Stein K, & Ford T. 2015. Mental health related contact with education professionals in the British child and adolescent mental Health survey 2004. J Ment Health Train EducPract. 2015;10(3):159–69. 29.
- Newman T. 2017. 'What is mental health' medical news today. Retrieved from https://www.medicalnews.com
- Ofili N, Usiholo A, Oronsage O. 2009. Psychological morbidity, job satisfaction and intentions to quit among teachers in private secondary schools in Edo-State, Nigeria. Ann Afr Med. 2009;8(1)32
- Ogle R, Frazier L, Nichols K, & Cappella, E. 2016. Non-academic Self Concept Among Urban Youth: Associations with Academic Success. School Mental Health, (2), 278.doi:10.1007/s12310-015-9162-z.
- Ogundele O. 2018 .Behavioural and emotional disorders in childhood: A brief overview for paediatricians. World J ClinPediatr. 2018 Feb 8; 7(1): 9–26. Published online 2018 Feb 8. doi: 10.5409/wjcp.v7.i1.9
- Olaniya O. 2011. The determinants of childs schooling in Nigeria. AERC Reasearch paper 217

 African economic research consortium, Nairobi.

- Olfson M, Blanco C, Wang S, Laje G, & Correll U. 2014. National trends in the mental health care of children, adolescents, and adults by office-based physicians. Journal of American Medical Association Psychiatry, 71, 81–90. doi:10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.3074.
- Oliff P ctr. on budget and pol'y priorities, new school year brings more cuts in state funding for schools 1, available at http://www.cbpp.org/files/9-4-12sfp.pdf
- Oshodi Y, Aina F, Adeyemi D, Oduguwa O, & Ogundipe A. 2013. Perceived needs for school mental health among stakeholders in districts of South-west Nigeria. J Public Health Epidemiol 2013;5(3):153–159. Doi: 10.58971JPHE12084
- Patalay P, Giese L, Stankovic M, Curtin C, Moltrecht B, Gondek D. 2016. Mental health provision in schools: priority, facilitator and barriers in 10 European countries. Journal of Child and adolescent mental health 2016:3(21). doi.org/10.1111/camh.1216.
- Perou H, Bitsko J, Blumberg P, Pastor M, Ghandour C, & Gfoerer L. 2013.Mental Health

 Surveillance among Children United States 2005-2011. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly

 Report (MMWR) 2013;62(Suppl 2):1–35. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

 (CDC) Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/pdf/other/su6202.pdf. [PubMed]

 [Google Scholar]
- Peterson D. 2018. Perceived barriers to developing a successful school based mental health programme. Concordia University, St. Paul, retrieved from digital common@CSP. https://:digitalcomoncp.edu/edd/5

- Pinfold U, Swart H, Thornicroft G, Arboleda-Florez J. 2005. Working with young people; the impact of mental health awareness programmes in schools in the UK and Canada. World psychiatry 4:51.
- Polanczyk V, Salum A, Sugaya S, Caye V, & Rohde A. 2015. Annual research review: A metaanalysis of the worldwide prevalence of mental disorders in children and adolescents. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. 2015 Mar;56(3):345-65. doi: 10.1111/jcpp.12381. Epub 2015 Feb 3
- Reinke M, Stormont M, Herman C, Puri R, & Goel N. 2011. Supporting children's mental health in schools: teacher perceptions of needs, roles, and barriers. SchPsychol Q 2011;26:1–13.
- Riglin L, Petrides K, Fredrickson N, & Rice F. 2014. The relationship between emotional problems and subsequent school attainment: A meta-analysis. Journal of Adolesc 2014;37(4):33-345
- Robertson A, Dill L, Husain J. 2004. Prevalence of mental illness and substance Abuse Disorders

 Among Incarcerated Juvenile Offenders in Mississippi. Child Psychiatry and Human

 Development, 2004, volume 35, Number 1, page 55.
- Rondoni P, Dogra N, Omigbodun O, Bella T, Atilola O. 2010. Stigmatization of mental illness among Nigeria School children. Int J.Soc Ptchatry 56(5)507-14
- Scott J, Mihalopoulo C, Erskine E, Roberts J, & Rahman. 2016. Childhood Mental and
 Developmental Disorders Patel V, Chisholm D, Dua T, et al., editors. Mental,
 Neurological, and Substance Use Disorders: Disease Control Priorities, Third Edition

- (Volume 4). Washington (DC): The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development / The World Bank; 2016 Mar 14. doi: 10.1596/978-1-4648-0426-7_ch8
- Smith, J. A. (1996). Beyond the divide between cognition and discourse: Using interpretative phenomenological analysis in health psychology. Psychology and health, 11(2), 261–271.
- Smolleck A, & Christine D. 2017. The role of Negative behaviour on academic performance in early childhood education. InterdiscipEdupsycho 1.1.1.008. https://doi.org/10.31532
- Soneson E, Childs-Fegredo, Anderson K, Jan S, Fazel M, Ford M, Humphrey A, Jones B, & Howarth E. 2018. Acceptability of screening for mental health difficulties in primary schools: a survey of UK parents Soneson et al. BMC Public Health (2018) 18:1404

 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-018-6279-7
- Sznitman R, Reisel L, & Romer, D. 2011. The neglected role of adolescent emotional well-being in national educational achievement: Bridging the gap between education and mental health policies.
- Tony E. 2015. Wisconsin school mental health framework available at https://dpi.wi.gov.sspw/mental-health
- Heller T. 2014. Mandatory School-Based Mental Health Services and the Prevention of School Violence,24HealthMatrix279(2014)Availableat:https://scholarlycommons.law.case.edu/healthmatrix/vol24/iss1/11
- Tunde-Ayinmode M, Adegunloye O, Ayinmode B,& Abiodun O. 2012. Psychiatric disorders in children attending a Nigeria primary health care unit: functional impairment and risk

- factors. Journal of child and adolescent psychiatry and mental health 6:28. http://www.capmh.com/content/6/1/28
- Walter J, Gouze K, & Lim K. 2006. Teachers beliefs about mental helth needs in innercity elementary school. J.AM.Acad.Child Adolesc.Psychiatry 45(1):61-68
- Weist D,& Murray M. 2008. Advancing school mnetal health promotion globally.

 In:Adu.Sch.Ment.Health Prmotion. 1(1):2-12
- Williams N. 2013. Bringing universal mental health checks in schools. BMJ. 2013; 347:f5478.

 28.
- Wolter K. 2017. Mental health program in schools: growing evidence support effectivenes scienceDaily10 AUGUST

 2017.www.sciencedaily.com/release/2017/08/170810173331.htm
- World Health Organization (2010) Mental health and development. World Health Organ, Geneva. 2.
- World health organization and ministry of health of Ethiopia. A WHO-AIMS report on mental health system in Ethiopia. Addis Ababa, Ethiopia, 2006.
- World Health Organization. The world health report 2001 Mental Health: New Understanding, New Hope. Geneva: WHO, 2001.
- World Health Organization. Declaration of alma-ata: World Health Organization, Regional Office for Europe; 2004.

World Health Organization (2006). Development of health promoting schools: a framework for action. Health promoting schools series. Geneva. 10-32.

MINERS ITY OF IBADAM LIBRAR'S

APPENDIX 1

PERCEPTIONS OF PUPILS, TEACHERS AND SCHOOL ADMINISTRATORS ABOUT MENTAL HEALTH NEEDS IN PRIMARY SCHOOLS IN IBADAN, NIGERIA

CONSENT FORM

I ----- of the Centre for Child and Adolescent Mental Health wish to carry out a study to determine the perception of mental health problems, needs of children and feasible ways to address these within the school system.

The project involves holding interviews with key informants, teachers and pupils. Each focus group/interview will last approximately an hour during which we would be asking questions to elicit your views. Your responses will be recorded on audiotape. All information will be confidential as to who provided it and the tapes will not be shared with any of your administrators. We will not disclose who actually participated in any of the focus group interviews. If you are a teacher or work in the school, your information will not be shared with administrators or colleagues.

There are no foreseeable risks involved. A potential benefit of this project is that we hope the written report will be used to guide the development of a comprehensive programme of school based mental health services for primary schools in Ibadan.

Your participation is completely voluntary and you may choose to end the interview at any stage.

Do you agree to take part yes no

Consent : The study has been well explained to me and I fully	y understand the process involved. I
agree to take part in this study.	
	R. J.
Participant signature\date	Interviewer signature\date
	4
Principal investigator's signature	
JANIVER	

APPENDIX 2A

PERCEPTIONS OF PUPILS, TEACHERS AND SCHOOL ADMINISTRATORS ABOUT MENTAL HEALTH NEEDS IN PRIMARY SCHOOLS IN IBADAN, NIGERIA

SOCIO-DEMOGRAPHIC QUESTIONNARE
Today's Date://
SCHOOL HEALTH QUESTIONNAIRE IN ENGLISH & YORUBA
Please write the answers to the questions or draw a circle where it applies to you. This is not an
examination it is only to find out about you and your health.
Jowo ko idahun si awon ibeere ti o jemo o, tabi ki o faigisi abe eyi to o jemo o. Eleyii kiişe
idanwo; a kan fe mo nipa re ati ilerare ni.
SECTION I Personal Information 1. Name of School (1. Orukoile-iwe): 2. Class (2. Kilaasi):

- 3. How old are you? 5. Omoodunmeloni o? _____
- 4. Are you a boy or a girl?
- (a) boy
- (b) girl

- 5. Şeokunrintabiobinrin?
- (a) Okunrin

(b) Obinrin

- 6. Do you practise any religion? No Yes
- 6. Nje e manse esinkankan? BeekoBeeni

APPENDIX 2B

PERCEPTIONS OF PUPILS, TEACHERS AND SCHOOL ADMINISTRATORS ABOUT MENTAL HEALTH NEEDS IN PRIMARY SCHOOLS IN IBADAN, NIGERIA

FOCUS GROUP AND KEY INFORMANT DISCUSSION GUIDE
1. What comes to your mind when you hear mental illness or mental health problems in
children?
2. What are the common signs and symptoms of mental illness or mental health problem i
children in this environment?
3. How would you identify children in your class or school who have mental illness/menta
health problems?
Probes
Do you see these children in your school?
Mental health problems
Emotional problems
Problems with behaviour or conduct

Are there differences in the above?

Psychosocial issues

4. What approaches and resources currently exist to address mental illness or mental health problems in your school?

Probe
Approaches:
Do you use disciplinary measures? Expulsion, suspension, use of cane, other punishments.
Resources:
Guidance Counsellor
Religious personnel
If available what exactly do they do to help the children?
5. How much do you feel teachers and other school workers should know about mental
illness or mental health problems in children?
Probes
Do you think they know about mental illness or mental health problems presently?
6. What sort of roles should teachers play in addressing mental health needs of children in
schools?
Probes
What sort of training would teachers need in order to bemore competent and comfortable
addressing mental health issues in school?
7. Would you feel comfortable asking a child about mental illness or mental health
problems?

Probes
If yes why
If no why
Shame
Stigma
Stimulating a problem with the school authorities other teachers parents community
8 How do you think parents would feel about mental health issues being addressed in
school?
Probes
Supportive
Angry
Suspicion
Inappropriate settings
9 What resources do you feel would be necessary in order to address mental health issues in
school?
Probes
Promote mental health
Prevent mental illness

Treat mental illness
Rehabilitate those who have suffered mental illness
What resources are available in your community to address mental health issues in
children?
Probes
Traditional practice
NGOs
Agencies
Other
11 What barriers exist which prevent children from receiving mental health treatment in
schools and the community?
Probes
Stigma
Poverty

12 If you were in charge of creating a school mental health program what suggestion would

Ignorance

Lack of services

APPENDIX 2C

PERCEPTIONS OF PUPILS, TEACHERS AND SCHOOL ADMINISTRATORS ABOUT MENTAL HEALTH NEEDS IN PRIMARY SCHOOLS IN IBADAN, NIGERIA

PUPILS FOCUS GROUP DISCUSSION GUIDE

- 1. What can you say about mental illness or mental health problems in children?
- 2. Do you see children with mental illness or mental health problems in your class or school?
- 3. If yes, how do you identify these children? What are the common signs and symptoms that children with mental illness or mental health problems shows?
- 4. What means do your teachers or school administrators use to help children with mental illness or mental health problems?
- 5. Do you feel other children and teachers in your school should know about mental illness or mental health problems?

Probe

If yes, to what extend?

- 6. How do you think teachers and other school personnel can help children with mental illness or mental health problems?
- 7. Can you ask a child in your class or school about his or her mental health or mental health problems?
- 8. How do you think your parents would feel if mental health issues is been addressed in school?

9. What resources or equipment do you feel would be important to address or to treat mental health issues in schools?

10. What are the barriers that can prevent children from receiving mental health treatment in schools and in the community?

JANVERSITY OF IBADAN LIBRARY
JANVERSITY OF IBADAN LIBRARY